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APOLLO GROUP, INC. AND SUBSIDIARIES

NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS – (Continued)

The following tables set forth selected unaudited quarterly financial information for each of our last eight quarters:

 
(Unaudited)

2012

 Q1  Q2  Q3  Q4

(In thousands, except per share data) November 30  February 29  May 31  August 31

Consolidated Quarterly Statements of Income:        

Net revenue $ 1,171,900  $ 962,682  $ 1,122,258  $ 996,497

Costs and expenses:        

Instructional and student advisory 453,281  425,607  466,117  455,564

Marketing 165,564  158,973  158,583  180,322

Admissions advisory 101,388  101,405  95,290  85,852

General and administrative 79,899  83,994  88,085  92,322

Depreciation and amortization 46,167  41,854  45,042  44,741

Provision for uncollectible accounts receivable 41,583  30,996  35,430  38,733

Goodwill and other intangibles impairment 16,788  —  —  —

Restructuring and other charges 5,562  16,148  7,577  9,408

Litigation charge —  —  4,725  —

Total costs and expenses 910,232  858,977  900,849  906,942

Operating income 261,668  103,705  221,409  89,555

Interest income 506  215  160  306

Interest expense (1,999)  (1,789)  (2,830)  (5,127)

Other, net 140  218  (402)  520

Income from continuing operations before income taxes 260,315  102,349  218,337  85,254

Provision for income taxes (115,179)  (43,108)  (87,059)  (37,726)

Income from continuing operations 145,136  59,241  131,278  47,528

Income from discontinued operations, net of tax 2,148  1,930  3,104  26,641

Net income 147,284  61,171  134,382  74,169

Net loss (income) attributable to noncontrolling interests 2,030  2,711  (348)  1,279

Net income attributable to Apollo $ 149,314  $ 63,882  $ 134,034  $ 75,448

Earnings per share – Basic:(1)
       

Continuing operations attributable to Apollo $ 1.13  $ 0.50  $ 1.11  $ 0.47

Discontinued operations attributable to Apollo 0.02  0.01  0.02  0.20

Basic income per share attributable to Apollo $ 1.15  $ 0.51  $ 1.13  $ 0.67

Earnings per share – Diluted:(1)
       

Continuing operations attributable to Apollo $ 1.13  $ 0.49  $ 1.11  $ 0.46

Discontinued operations attributable to Apollo 0.01  0.02  0.02  0.20

Diluted income per share attributable to Apollo $ 1.14  $ 0.51  $ 1.13  $ 0.66

Basic weighted average shares outstanding 130,318  125,298  118,134  112,815

Diluted weighted average shares outstanding 130,874  126,467  118,793  113,539

(1)
 The sum of quarterly income per share may not equal annual income per share due to rounding.
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NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS – (Continued)

 
(Unaudited)

2011

 Q1  Q2  Q3  Q4

(In thousands, except per share data) November 30  February 28 
(1)

 May 31  August 31

Consolidated Quarterly Statements of Operations:        

Net revenue $ 1,320,519  $ 1,042,412  $ 1,227,898  $ 1,120,220

Costs and expenses:        

Instructional and student advisory 452,557  417,943  454,305  435,181

Marketing 165,936  156,957  160,846  170,660

Admissions advisory 113,752  102,283  99,923  99,428

General and administrative 84,874  84,344  87,857  98,473

Provision for uncollectible accounts receivable 56,909  45,540  39,217  39,631

Depreciation and amortization 36,325  38,809  41,023  41,529

Restructuring and other charges 3,846  —  —  19,067

Goodwill and other intangibles impairment —  219,927  —  —

Litigation charge (credit), net 881  1,574  2,048  (16,454)

Total costs and expenses 915,080  1,067,377  885,219  887,515

Operating income (loss) 405,439  (24,965)  342,679  232,705

Interest income 899  704  783  498

Interest expense (2,170)  (1,654)  (2,383)  (2,724)

Other, net (54)  313  (1,864)  17

Income (loss) from continuing operations before income taxes 404,114  (25,602)  339,215  230,496

Provision for income taxes (169,084)  (75,465)  (129,284)  (45,303)

Income (loss) from continuing operations 235,030  (101,067)  209,931  185,193

Income (loss) from discontinued operations, net of tax 638  3,994  3,334  (1,257)

Net income (loss) 235,668  (97,073)  213,265  183,936

Net (income) loss attributable to noncontrolling interests (255)  33,035  (825)  4,676

Net income (loss) attributable to Apollo $ 235,413  $ (64,038)  $ 212,440  $ 188,612

Earnings (loss) per share – Basic:(2)
       

Continuing operations attributable to Apollo $ 1.61  $ (0.48)  $ 1.50  $ 1.39

Discontinued operations attributable to Apollo —  0.03  0.02  (0.01)

Basic income (loss) per share attributable to Apollo $ 1.61  $ (0.45)  $ 1.52  $ 1.38

Earnings (loss) per share – Diluted:(2)
       

Continuing operations attributable to Apollo $ 1.60  $ (0.48)  $ 1.49  $ 1.38

Discontinued operations attributable to Apollo 0.01  0.03  0.02  (0.01)

Diluted income (loss) per share attributable to Apollo $ 1.61  $ (0.45)  $ 1.51  $ 1.37

Basic weighted average shares outstanding 146,352  142,354  139,856  136,594

Diluted weighted average shares outstanding 146,663  142,354  140,343  137,295

(1)
 The effective income tax rate and net loss attributable to noncontrolling interests was significantly affected in the second quarter of fiscal year 2011 by

BPP goodwill and other intangibles impairment charges.
(2)

 The sum of quarterly income per share may not equal annual income per share due to rounding and the net loss in the second quarter of fiscal year 2011.
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Item 9 – Changes in and Disagreements With Accountants on Accounting and Financial Disclosure

None.

Item 9A – Controls and Procedures

Disclosure Controls and Procedures

We intend to maintain disclosure controls and procedures designed to provide reasonable assurance that information required to be disclosed in reports filed
under the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, as amended, is recorded, processed, summarized and reported within the specified time periods and accumulated
and communicated to our management, including our Chief Executive Officer (“Principal Executive Officer”) and our Senior Vice President and Chief
Financial Officer (“Principal Financial Officer”), as appropriate, to allow timely decisions regarding required disclosure. We have established a Disclosure
Committee, consisting of certain members of management, to assist in this evaluation. Our Disclosure Committee meets on a quarterly basis and more often if
necessary.

Our management, under the supervision and with the participation of our Principal Executive Officer and Principal Financial Officer, evaluated the
effectiveness of our disclosure controls and procedures (as defined in Rules 13a-15(e) or 15d-15(e) promulgated under the Securities Exchange Act), as of the
end of the period covered by this report. Based on that evaluation, management concluded that, as of that date, our disclosure controls and procedures were
effective at the reasonable assurance level.

Attached as exhibits to this Annual Report on Form 10-K are certifications of our Principal Executive Officer and Principal Financial Officer, which are
required in accordance with Rule 13a-14 of the Securities Exchange Act. This Disclosure Controls and Procedures section includes information concerning
management’s evaluation of disclosure controls and procedures referred to in those certifications and, as such, should be read in conjunction with the
certifications of our Principal Executive Officer and Principal Financial Officer.

Management’s Report on Internal Control Over Financial Reporting

Management is responsible for establishing and maintaining effective internal control over financial reporting. Management’s intent is to design a process to
provide reasonable assurance regarding the reliability of financial reporting and the preparation of financial statements for external purposes in accordance
with GAAP in the United States of America.

Our internal control over financial reporting includes those policies and procedures that:

(i) pertain to the maintenance of records that, in reasonable detail, accurately and fairly reflect the transactions and dispositions of our assets;

(ii) provide reasonable assurance that transactions are recorded as necessary to permit preparation of financial statements in accordance with GAAP,
and that receipts and expenditures are being made only in accordance with authorizations of our management and directors; and

(iii) provide reasonable assurance regarding prevention or timely detection of unauthorized acquisition, use, or disposition of our assets that could have
a material effect on the financial statements.

Management performed an assessment of the effectiveness of our internal control over financial reporting as of August 31, 2012 , utilizing the criteria
described in the “Internal Control – Integrated Framework” issued by the Committee of Sponsoring Organizations of the Treadway Commission. The
objective of this assessment was to determine whether our internal control over financial reporting was effective as of August 31, 2012 . Based on our
assessment, management believes that, as of August 31, 2012 , the Company’s internal control over financial reporting is effective.

Our independent registered public accounting firm, Deloitte & Touche LLP, independently assessed the effectiveness of the Company’s internal control over
financial reporting. Deloitte & Touche LLP has issued a report, which is included at the end of Part II, Item 9A of this Annual Report on Form 10-K.

Changes in Internal Control Over Financial Reporting

There have not been any changes in our internal control over financial reporting during the quarter ended August 31, 2012 , that have materially affected, or
are reasonably likely to materially affect, our internal control over financial reporting.

136



Table of Contents

REPORT OF INDEPENDENT REGISTERED PUBLIC ACCOUNTING FIRM

To the Board of Directors and Shareholders of
Apollo Group, Inc. and Subsidiaries
Phoenix, Arizona

We have audited the internal control over financial reporting of Apollo Group, Inc. and subsidiaries (the “Company”) as of August 31, 2012, based on
criteria established in Internal Control – Integrated Framework issued by the Committee of Sponsoring Organizations of the Treadway Commission. The
Company’s management is responsible for maintaining effective internal control over financial reporting and for its assessment of the effectiveness of internal
control over financial reporting, included in the accompanying Management’s Report on Internal Control Over Financial Reporting. Our responsibility is to
express an opinion on the Company’s internal control over financial reporting based on our audit.

We conducted our audit in accordance with the standards of the Public Company Accounting Oversight Board (United States). Those standards require
that we plan and perform the audit to obtain reasonable assurance about whether effective internal control over financial reporting was maintained in all
material respects. Our audit included obtaining an understanding of internal control over financial reporting, assessing the risk that a material weakness exists,
testing and evaluating the design and operating effectiveness of internal control based on the assessed risk, and performing such other procedures as we
considered necessary in the circumstances. We believe that our audit provides a reasonable basis for our opinion.

A company’s internal control over financial reporting is a process designed by, or under the supervision of, the company’s principal executive and
principal financial officers, or persons performing similar functions, and effected by the company’s board of directors, management, and other personnel to
provide reasonable assurance regarding the reliability of financial reporting and the preparation of financial statements for external purposes in accordance
with generally accepted accounting principles. A company’s internal control over financial reporting includes those policies and procedures that (1) pertain to
the maintenance of records that, in reasonable detail, accurately and fairly reflect the transactions and dispositions of the assets of the company; (2) provide
reasonable assurance that transactions are recorded as necessary to permit preparation of financial statements in accordance with generally accepted
accounting principles, and that receipts and expenditures of the company are being made only in accordance with authorizations of management and directors
of the company; and (3) provide reasonable assurance regarding prevention or timely detection of unauthorized acquisition, use, or disposition of the
company’s assets that could have a material effect on the financial statements.

Because of the inherent limitations of internal control over financial reporting, including the possibility of collusion or improper management override
of controls, material misstatements due to error or fraud may not be prevented or detected on a timely basis. Also, projections of any evaluation of the
effectiveness of the internal control over financial reporting to future periods are subject to the risk that the controls may become inadequate because of
changes in conditions, or that the degree of compliance with the policies or procedures may deteriorate.

In our opinion, the Company maintained, in all material respects, effective internal control over financial reporting as of August 31, 2012, based on the
criteria established in Internal Control – Integrated Framework issued by the Committee of Sponsoring Organizations of the Treadway Commission.

We have also audited, in accordance with the standards of the Public Company Accounting Oversight Board (United States), the consolidated financial
statements as of and for the year ended August 31, 2012 of the Company, and our report dated October 22, 2012 expressed an unqualified opinion on those
financial statements.

/s/  DELOITTE & TOUCHE LLP

Phoenix, Arizona
October 22, 2012 

137



Table of Contents

Item 9B – Other Information

None.

PART III

Item 10  – Directors, Executive Officers and Corporate Governance

Information relating to our Board of Directors, Executive Officers, and Corporate Governance required by this item appears in the Information Statement for
Apollo Group, Inc., to be filed within 120 days of our fiscal year end (August 31, 2012 ) and such information is incorporated herein by reference.

Our employees must act ethically at all times and in accordance with the policies in our Code of Business Ethics. We require full compliance with this policy
from all designated employees including our Chief Executive Officer, Chief Financial Officer, and Chief Accounting Officer. We publish the policy, and any
amendments or waivers to the policy, in the Corporate Governance section of our website located at www.apollogrp.edu/CorporateGovernance/
CorporateGovernance.aspx.

Item 11  – Executive Compensation

Information relating to this item appears in the Information Statement for Apollo Group, Inc., to be filed within 120 days of our fiscal year end (August 31,
2012 ) and such information is incorporated herein by reference.

Item 12  – Security Ownership of Certain Beneficial Owners and Management and Related Stockholder Matters

Information relating to this item appears in the Information Statement for Apollo Group, Inc., to be filed within 120 days of our fiscal year end (August 31,
2012 ) and such information is incorporated herein by reference.

Item 13  – Certain Relationships and Related Transactions, and Director Independence

Information relating to this item appears in the Information Statement for Apollo Group, Inc., to be filed within 120 days of our fiscal year end (August 31,
2012 ) and such information is incorporated herein by reference.

Item 14  – Principal Accounting Fees and Services

Information relating to this item appears in the Information Statement for Apollo Group, Inc., to be filed within 120 days of our fiscal year end (August 31,
2012 ) and such information is incorporated herein by reference.
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PART IV

Item 15 – Exhibits, Financial Statement Schedules

(a) The following documents are filed as part of this Annual Report on Form 10-K:

1.  Financial Statements filed as part of this report

Index to Consolidated Financial Statements Page

Report of Independent Registered Public Accounting Firm 87

Consolidated Balance Sheets 88

Consolidated Statements of Income 89

Consolidated Statements of Comprehensive Income 90

Consolidated Statements of Changes in Shareholders’ Equity 91

Consolidated Statements of Cash Flows 92

Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements 93

2.  Financial Statement Schedules

All financial statement schedules have been omitted since the required information is not applicable or is not present in amounts sufficient to require
submission of the schedule, or because the information required is included on the Consolidated Financial Statements and Notes thereto.
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3.  Exhibits

Index to Exhibits

   Incorporated by Reference  

 Exhibit

Number Exhibit Description Form File No.

Exhibit

Number Filing Date Filed Herewith 

 2.1 Agreement and Plan of Merger by and among Carnegie Learning, Inc.,
Apollo Group, Inc., BHCL Acquisition Co. and CLI Shareholder

Representative, LLC, dated August 2, 2011
(1)

10-K No. 000-25232 2.1 October 20, 2011

 
 2.2 First Amendment to Agreement and Plan of Merger by and among

Carnegie Learning, Inc., Apollo Group, Inc., BHCL Acquisition Co. and
CLI Shareholder Representative, LLC, dated August 31, 2011

10-K No. 000-25232 2.2 October 20, 2011

 
 2.3 Technology Assignment and License Agreement by and between Apollo

Group, Inc., Carnegie Mellon University and Carnegie Learning, Inc.,

dated August 2, 2011
(1)

10-K No. 000-25232 2.3 October 20, 2011

 
 3.1 Amended and Restated Articles of Incorporation of Apollo Group, Inc.,

as amended through June 20, 2007
10-Q No. 000-25232 3.1 January 7, 2010  

 3.2 Amended and Restated Bylaws of Apollo Group, Inc. 10-Q No. 000-25232 3.2 April 10, 2006  
 10.1 Apollo Group, Inc. Long-Term Incentive Plan* S-1 No. 33-83804 10.3 September 9, 1994  
 10.2 Apollo Group, Inc. Plan Amendment to Long-Term Incentive Plan* 10-Q No. 000-25232 10.5 June 28, 2007  
 10.3 Apollo Group, Inc. Plan Amendment to Long-Term Incentive Plan* 10-K No. 000-25232 10.3 October 27, 2009  
 10.4 Apollo Group, Inc. Amended and Restated Savings and Investment

Plan*
10-Q No. 000-25232 10.4 January 14, 2002  

 10.5 Apollo Group, Inc. Third Amended and Restated 1994 Employee Stock
Purchase Plan*

10-K No. 000-25232 10.5 November 14, 2005  

 10.6 Apollo Group, Inc. 2000 Stock Incentive Plan (as amended and restated
June 25, 2009)*

10-Q No. 000-25232 10.3 June 29, 2009  

 10.7 Apollo Group, Inc. 2000 Stock Incentive Plan Amendment (effective
June 24, 2010)*

8-K No. 000-25232 10.3 June 30, 2010  

 10.8 Apollo Group, Inc. Amended and Restated 2000 Stock Incentive Plan
Amendment (effective October 6, 2011)*

10-K No. 000-25232 10.8 October 20, 2011
 

 10.9 Apollo Group, Inc. Amended and Restated 2000 Stock Incentive Plan
Amendment (effective December 8, 2011)*

10-Q No. 000-25232 10.2 March 26, 2012
 

 10.10 Form of Performance Share Award Agreement* 8-K No. 000-25232 10.2 June 30, 2010  
 10.11 Form of Apollo Group, Inc. Non-Employee Director Stock Option

Agreement*
10-Q No. 000-25232 10.6 June 28, 2007  

 10.12 Form of Apollo Group, Inc. Non-Employee Director Stock Option
Agreement With Limited Transferability*

10-K No. 000-25232 10.10 October 20, 2011
 

 10.13 Form of Apollo Group, Inc. Non-Employee Director Restricted Stock
Unit Award Agreement*

10-Q No. 000-25232 10.7 June 28, 2007  

 10.14 Form of Apollo Group, Inc. Stock Option Agreement (for officers with
an employment agreement)*

10-Q No. 000-25232 10.3 January 8, 2009  

 10.15 Form of Non-Statutory Stock Option Agreement (for officers without an
employment agreement)*

10-Q No. 000-25232 10.4 January 8, 2009  
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   Incorporated by Reference  

 Exhibit

Number Exhibit Description Form File No.

Exhibit

Number Filing Date Filed Herewith 

 10.16 Form of Non-Statutory Stock Option Agreement With Limited
Transferability (for officers without an employment agreement)*

10-K No. 000-25232 10.1 October 20, 2011
 

 10.17 Form of Apollo Group, Inc. Stock Option Agreement With Limited
Transferability (for officers with an employment agreement)*

10-K No. 000-25232 10.2 October 20, 2011
 

 10.18 Form of Apollo Group, Inc. Restricted Stock Unit Award Agreement (for
officers with an employment agreement)*

10-Q No. 000-25232 10.1 January 8, 2009  

 10.19 Form of Apollo Group, Inc. Restricted Stock Unit Award Agreement (for
officers without an employment agreement)*

10-Q No. 000-25232 10.2 January 8, 2009  

 10.20 Form of Restricted Stock Unit Award Agreement (Special Retention
Award - Form A)*

10-Q No. 000-25232 10.1 March 29, 2011
 

 10.21 Form of Restricted Stock Unit Award Agreement (Special Retention
Award - Form B)*

10-Q No. 000-25232 10.2 March 29, 2011
 

 10.22 Form of Restricted Stock Unit Award Agreement With Performance
Condition and Partial Service Vesting Acceleration*

10-K No. 000-25232 10.20 October 20, 2011
 

 10.23 Form of Performance Share Award Agreement (Apollo Global Metrics)* 10-K No. 000-25232 10.21 October 20, 2011  
 10.24 Form of Performance Share Award Agreement (Apollo Group Metrics)* 10-K No. 000-25232 10.22 October 20, 2011  
 10.25 Aptimus, Inc. 2001 Stock Plan* S-8 No. 333-147151 99.1 November 5, 2007  
 10.26 Apollo Group, Inc. Stock Option Assumption Agreement Aptimus, Inc.

2001 Stock Plan*
S-8 No. 333-147151 99.2 November 5, 2007  

 10.27 Apollo Group, Inc. Stock Appreciation Right Assumption Agreement
Aptimus, Inc. 2001 Stock Plan*

S-8 No. 333-147151 99.3 November 5, 2007
 

 10.28 Aptimus, Inc. 1997 Stock Option Plan, as amended* S-8 No. 333-147151 99.4 November 5, 2007  
 10.29 Apollo Group, Inc. Stock Option Assumption Agreement Aptimus, Inc.

1997 Stock Option Plan, as amended*
S-8 No. 333-147151 99.50 November 5, 2007  

 10.30 Apollo Group, Inc. Executive Officer Performance Incentive Plan (as
amended and restated effective as of October 6, 2011)*

10-K No. 000-25232 10.28 October 20, 2011
 

 10.31 Amendment to Apollo Group, Inc. Executive Officer Performance
Incentive Plan (as amended and restated effective as of October 6, 2011)
(effective December 8, 2011)*

10-Q No. 000-25232 10.2 January 5, 2012

 
 10.32 Apollo Group, Inc. Deferral Election Program for Non-Employee Board

Members*
10-K No. 000-25232 10.20 October 27, 2009  

 10.33 Apollo Group, Inc. Senior Executive Severance Pay Plan (as amended
and restated effective as of January 1, 2012)*

10-Q No. 000-25232 10.1 March 26, 2012  

 10.34 Form of Indemnification Agreement - Employee Director* 10-K No. 000-25232 10.23  October 21, 2010  
 10.35 Form of Indemnification Agreement - Outside Director* 10-K No. 000-25232 10.23  October 21, 2010  
 10.36 Amended and Restated Employment Agreement between Apollo Group,

Inc. and John G. Sperling, dated December 31, 2008*
10-Q No. 000-25232 10.1 January 8, 2009  
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   Incorporated by Reference  

 Exhibit

 Number Exhibit Description Form File No. Exhibit Number Filing Date

Filed

 Herewith 

 10.37 Amended and Restated Deferred Compensation Agreement between
Apollo Group, Inc. and John G. Sperling, dated December 31, 2008*

10-Q No. 000-25232 10.1 January 8, 2009  

 10.38 Shareholder Agreement among Apollo Group, Inc. and holders of
Apollo Group Class B common stock, dated September 7, 1994

S-1 No. 33-83804 10.1 September 9, 1994  

 10.38b Amendment to Shareholder Agreement among Apollo Group, Inc. and
holders of Apollo Group Class B common stock, dated May 25, 2001

10-K No. 000-25232 10.10b November 28, 2001  

 10.38c Amendment to Shareholder Agreement among Apollo Group, Inc. and
holders of Apollo Group Class B common stock, dated June 23, 2006

10-K No. 000-25232 10.23c October 27, 2009
 

 10.38d Amendment to Shareholder Agreement among Apollo Group, Inc. and
holders of Apollo Group Class B common stock, dated May 19, 2009

10-K No. 000-25232 10.23d October 27, 2009
 

 10.39 Amended and Restated Employment Agreement between Apollo
Group, Inc. and Gregory W. Cappelli, dated April 2, 2011*

10-Q No. 000-25232 10.3 June 30, 2011
 

 10.40 Letter Agreement between Apollo Group, Inc. and Gregory W.
Cappelli, dated September 5, 2012*     

X

 10.41 Stock Option Agreement between Apollo Group, Inc. and Gregory W.
Cappelli, dated June 28, 2007*

10-Q No. 000-25232 10.1 June 28, 2007  

 10.42 Amended and Restated Employment Agreement between Apollo
Group, Inc. and Joseph L. D’Amico, dated May 18, 2010*

8-K No. 000-25232 10.2 May 20, 2010  

 10.43 Employment Agreement between Apollo Group, Inc. and Charles B.
Edelstein, dated July 7, 2008*

8-K No. 000-25232 10.10 July 8, 2008  

 10.44 Amendment to Employment Agreement between Apollo Group, Inc.
and Charles B. Edelstein, dated December 12, 2008*

10-Q No. 000-25232 10.8 January 8, 2009  

 10.45 Amendment No. 2 to Employment Agreement between Apollo Group,
Inc. and Charles B. Edelstein, dated February 23, 2009*

10-Q No. 000-25232 10.2 March 31, 2009  

 10.46 Amendment No. 3 to Employment Agreement between Apollo Group,
Inc. and Charles B. Edelstein, dated April 24, 2009*

8-K No. 000-25232 10.2 April 27, 2009
 

 10.47 Clarification letter between Apollo Group, Inc. and Charles B.
Edelstein, dated September 29, 2010*

10-Q No. 000-25232 10.30 January 10, 2011  

 10.48 Transition Agreement between Apollo Group, Inc. and Charles B.
Edelstein, dated January 5, 2012

8-K No. 000-25232 10.1 January 5, 2012
 

 10.49 Employment Agreement between Apollo Group, Inc. and Rob Wrubel,
dated August 7, 2007*

10-K No. 000-25232 10.31 October 28, 2008  

 10.50 Amendment to Employment Agreement between Apollo Group, Inc.
and Rob Wrubel, dated October 31, 2008*

10-Q No. 000-25232 10.50 January 8, 2009  
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   Incorporated by Reference  

 
Exhibit Number Exhibit Description Form File No. Exhibit Number Filing Date Filed Herewith 

 10.51 Offer letter between Apollo Group, Inc. and Sean Martin, dated
August 23, 2010*

10-Q No. 000-25232 10.10 January 10, 2011  

 10.52 Clarification letter between Apollo Group, Inc. and Sean Martin, dated
September 20, 2010*

10-Q No. 000-25232 10.20 January 10, 2011  

 10.53 Stock Option Repricing Agreement between Apollo Group, Inc. and
John G. Sperling, dated August 25, 2008*

10-K No. 000-25232 10.32 October 28, 2008  

 10.54 Stock Option Repricing Agreement between Apollo Group, Inc. and
Peter V. Sperling, dated August 25, 2008*

10-K No. 000-25232 10.33 October 28, 2008  

 21 List of Subsidiaries     X
 23.1 Consent of Independent Registered Public Accounting Firm     X
 31.1 Certification of Principal Executive Officer Pursuant to Section 302 of

the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002     
X

 31.2 Certification of Principal Financial Officer Pursuant to Section 302 of
the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002     

X

 32.1 Certification of Chief Executive Officer Pursuant to 18 U.S.C.
Section 1350, as adopted pursuant to Section 906 of the Sarbanes-Oxley
Act of 2002     

X

 32.2 Certification of Chief Financial Officer Pursuant to 18 U.S.C.
Section 1350, as adopted pursuant to Section 906 of the Sarbanes-Oxley
Act of 2002     

X

 101.INS XBRL Instance Document     X
 101.SCH XBRL Taxonomy Extension Schema Document     X
 101.CAL XBRL Taxonomy Extension Calculation Linkbase Document     X
 101.DEF XBRL Taxonomy Extension Definition Linkbase Document     X
 101.LAB XBRL Taxonomy Extension Label Linkbase Document     X
 101.PRE XBRL Taxonomy Extension Presentation Linkbase Document     X

* Indicates a management contract or compensation plan.
(1)

 Portions of this exhibit have been omitted pursuant to a request for confidential treatment from the Securities and Exchange Commission.
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SIGNATURES

Pursuant to the requirements of Section 13 or 15(d) of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, the registrant has duly caused this report to be signed on its behalf
by the undersigned, thereunto duly authorized.

 APOLLO GROUP, INC.

 An Arizona Corporation

   

 By: /s/  Brian L. Swartz

  Brian L. Swartz

  Senior Vice President and Chief Financial Officer

  (Principal Financial Officer)

   

 By: /s/  Gregory J. Iverson

  Gregory J. Iverson

  Vice President, Chief Accounting Officer and Controller

  (Principal Accounting Officer)

Date: October 22, 2012 

Pursuant to the requirements of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, this report has been signed below by the following persons on behalf of the registrant
and in the capacities and on the dates indicated.

Signature Title Date

   

/s/  John G. Sperling Founder, Executive Chairman of the Board and Director October 22, 2012

John G. Sperling   

   

/s/  Peter V. Sperling Vice Chairman of the Board and Director October 22, 2012

Peter V. Sperling   

   

/s/  Gregory W. Cappelli Chief Executive Officer and Director (Principal Executive Officer) October 22, 2012

Gregory W. Cappelli   

   

/s/  Brian L. Swartz
Senior Vice President and Chief Financial Officer (Principal Financial

Officer)
October 22, 2012

Brian L. Swartz   

   

/s/  Gregory J. Iverson
Vice President, Chief Accounting Officer and Controller(Principal Accounting

Officer)
October 22, 2012

Gregory J. Iverson   
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Signature Title Date

/s/ Terri C. Bishop
Executive Vice President, Integrated Academic Strategies & Sr. Advisor to the

Chief Executive Officer and Director October 22, 2012

Terri C. Bishop   

   

/s/  K. Sue Redman Director October 22, 2012

K. Sue Redman   

   

/s/  George A. Zimmer Director October 22, 2012

George A. Zimmer   

   

/s/  Roy A. Herberger, Jr. Director October 22, 2012

Roy A. Herberger, Jr.   

   

/s/  Ann Kirschner Director October 22, 2012

Ann Kirschner   

   

/s/  Manuel F. Rivelo Director October 22, 2012

Manuel F. Rivelo   

   

/s/  Darby E. Shupp Director October 22, 2012

Darby E. Shupp   

   

/s/  Robert S. Murley Director October 22, 2012

Robert S. Murley   

   

/s/  Richard H. Dozer Director October 22, 2012

Richard H. Dozer   

   

/s/  Allen R. Weiss Director October 22, 2012

Allen R. Weiss   

   

/s/  Margaret Spellings Director October 22, 2012

Margaret Spellings   
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APOLLO GROUP, INC.

4025 SOUTH RIVERPOINT PARKWAY

PHOENIX, AZ 85040

 

September 5, 2012

Gregory W. Cappelli

Apollo Group, Inc.

227 W. Monroe Street

Chicago, IL 60606

Dear Greg:

This letter will confirm your agreement to forego the salary increase that would otherwise become effective for you for the period

from September 1, 2012 to August 31, 2013 pursuant to Section 3(a) of your Amended and Restated Employment Agreement with the

Company dated as of April 2, 2011 (the "Employment Agreement ”). In the absence of your agreement in this letter, your base salary

for such one-year period would have increased, pursuant to the terms of your Employment Agreement, from your current annual rate

of $700,000.00 to $750,000.00.

However, in light of the decision of the senior management team of Apollo Group to forego any increase in the annual rate of base

salary for the fiscal year commencing September 1, 2012 (the "2013 Fiscal Year"), you have agreed to waive the automatic salary

increase provided under your Employment Agreement for the fiscal year in question. However, such waiver will not affect the amount

of the salary increase scheduled to become effective under your Employment Agreement on September l, 2013. Accordingly, for the

fiscal year commencing September 1, 2013 to August 31, 2014, your rate of base salary will be increased to $800,000.00.

In addition, the waiver of your salary increase for the 2013 Fiscal Year will not affect the target bonus amount or separation payment

calculation which would have otherwise been in effect under your Employment Agreement for such year in the absence of that waiver.

Accordingly, your target bonus for the 2013 Fiscal Year will be in the dollar amount of $750,000.00, with your actual bonus amount

for such year to be contingent upon the level at which the applicable performance goals for that year are in fact attained, and your base

salary for purposes of the separation payment referenced in Section 8(b)(i) of your Employment Agreement will be $750,000.



By signing the Acceptance section below, you will agree to the waiver of your scheduled salary increase for the 2013 Fiscal Year.

Accordingly, the Company's failure to implement that salary increase will not constitute a "Good Reason" event under Section 7(c) of

your Employment Agreement that might otherwise entitle you to the severance benefits provided under Section 8(b) of your

Employment Agreement. Accordingly, no right to such severance benefits will be triggered as a result of the non-implementation of

your scheduled salary increase for the 2013 Fiscal Year.

We very much appreciate your decision to forego your scheduled salary increase for the 2013 Fiscal Year and join the other members

of the senior management team who will not receive any salary increases during this challenging transition period for the Company.

Sincerely,
 

/s/ Fred Newton
 

FRED NEWTON

SVP, CHIEF HR OFFICER

ACCEPTANCE

I hereby agree to forego the scheduled salary increase for the 2013 Fiscal Year that would otherwise become effective under my April

2, 2011 Amended and Restated Employment Agreement with Apollo Group, Inc. Accordingly, the Company's failure to implement

such salary increase shall not constitute a Good Reason event under my Amended and Restated Employment Agreement.

/s/ Gregory W. Cappelli

GREGORY W. CAPPELLI
 

DATED: September 5, 2012
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Subsidiaries of Apollo Group, Inc.

Entity Jurisdiction of Incorporation or Formation

Apollo Development Corp. Arizona

Apollo Global, Inc. 
1 Delaware

Apollo Group China, LLC Arizona

Apollo Investments, Inc. Arizona

Apollo NB Holding Company Arizona

Aptimus, Inc. Washington

Institute for Professional Development California

The College for Financial Planning Institutes Corporation Arizona

The University of Phoenix, Inc. Arizona

Apollo Education Services, LLC Delaware

Carnegie Learning, Inc. Pennsylvania

 

Assumed Names

Corporate Name Assumed Name State(s) where used

Apollo Group, Inc. Apollo Education California

Institute for Professional Development Institute for Professional Development of California,
Inc.

Connecticut, New Jersey

Institute for Professional Development Institute for Professional Development, Inc. Arizona, Florida, Illinois, Indiana, Kentucky,
North Carolina, Oregon, Pennsylvania,
Tennessee, Virginia

Institute for Professional Development Institute for Professional Development Corporation Iowa

Subsidiaries of Apollo Global, Inc.

Entity Jurisdiction of Incorporation or Formation

Western International University, Inc Arizona, USA

Apollo Global Dutch GP, LLC Delaware, USA

Helios International (Netherlands) C.V. Netherlands

Subsidiaries of Helios International (Netherlands) C.V.

Entity Jurisdiction of Incorporation or Formation

Cooperatieve Apollo Global Netherlands U.A.
Netherlands

Apollo Global Dutch Coop, LLC
Delaware, USA



Subsidiaries of Cooperatieve Apollo Global Netherlands U.A.

Entity Jurisdiction of Incorporation or Formation
Apollo Global Chile, S.A. Chile
Apollo Global Mexico, S. de R.L. de C.V. Mexico
Apollo Global Singapore Holdings Pte. Ltd Singapore
Apollo UK Acquisition Company Limited United Kingdom

1
 As of August 31, 2012, Apollo Group, Inc. owned 85.6% of Apollo Global, Inc. As of October 12, 2012, Apollo Group owned 100% of Apollo Global, Inc.



Subsidiaries of Apollo UK Acquisition Company Limited

Entity Jurisdiction of Incorporation or Formation

BPP Holdings PLC United Kingdom

Subsidiaries of Apollo Global Chile, S.A.

Entity Jurisdiction of Incorporation or Formation

Apollo Chile Comunicaciones, Limitada Chile

Universidad de Artes, Ciencias y Comunicación 
2 Chile

Instituto Superior de Artes y Ciencias de la Comunicación S.A.
(“I.A.C.C”)

Chile

Sociedad de Transportes Trans-Guil Limitada (“Trans-Guil”) Chile

Subsidiaries of Apollo Global Mexico, S. de R.L. de C.V.

Entity Jurisdiction of Incorporation or Formation

Apollo Global Mexico Sub, S. de R.L. de C.V. Mexico

Subsidiaries of Apollo Global Mexico Sub, S. de R.L. de C.V.

Entity Jurisdiction of Incorporation or Formation

Universidad Latinoamericana, S.C. (“ULA”) Mexico

Subsidiaries of BPP Holdings LTD

Entity Jurisdiction of Incorporation or Formation

BPP Services Ltd. United Kingdom

BPP University College of Professional Studies Ltd.
United Kingdom

BPP Dublin, Ltd
Ireland

Happy Café, Ltd United Kingdom

BPP International, Ltd United Kingdom

BPP Netherlands, BV Netherlands

BPP China Ltd Hong Kong

Subsidiaries of BPP Services Ltd.

Entity Jurisdiction of Incorporation or Formation

BPP Learning Media Ltd. United Kingdom

BPP Professional Education Ltd. United Kingdom

2
 UNIACC is a non-profit entity; its members are I.A.C.C. and Apollo Global Chile, S.A.



EXHIBIT 23.1
CONSENT OF INDEPENDENT REGISTERED PUBLIC ACCOUNTING FIRM 

We consent to the incorporation by reference in Registration Statement Nos. 333-160301, 33-149933, 333-147151, 333-144129, 333-46834, 33-63429,
33-88984, 33-88982, 33-87638 and 333-180355 on Form S-8 of our reports dated October 22, 2012 relating to the consolidated financial statements of Apollo
Group, Inc. and subsidiaries and the effectiveness of internal control over financial reporting of Apollo Group, Inc. and subsidiaries, appearing in this Annual
Report on Form 10-K of Apollo Group, Inc. for the year ended August 31, 2012.

/s/ DELOITTE & TOUCHE LLP 

Phoenix, Arizona
October 22, 2012



EXHIBIT 31.1

CERTIFICATION PURSUANT TO SECTION 302
OF THE SARBANES-OXLEY ACT OF 2002

I, Gregory W. Cappelli, certify that:

1. I have reviewed this Form 10-K of Apollo Group, Inc. (the “registrant”);

2. Based on my knowledge, this report does not contain any untrue statement of a material fact or omit to state a material fact necessary to make the
statements made, in light of the circumstances under which such statements were made, not misleading with respect to the period covered by this report;

3. Based on my knowledge, the financial statements, and other financial information included in this report, fairly present in all material respects the
financial condition, results of operations and cash flows of the registrant as of, and for, the periods presented in this report;

4. The registrant’s other certifying officer(s) and I are responsible for establishing and maintaining disclosure controls and procedures (as defined in
Exchange Act Rules 13a-15(e) and 15d-15(e)) and internal control over financial reporting (as defined in Exchange Act Rules 13a-15(f) and 15d-15(f)) for the
registrant and have:

a) Designed such disclosure controls and procedures, or caused such disclosure controls and procedures to be designed under our supervision, to
ensure that material information relating to the registrant, including its consolidated subsidiaries, is made known to us by others within those entities,
particularly during the period in which this report is being prepared;

b) Designed such internal control over financial reporting, or caused such internal control over financial reporting to be designed under our
supervision, to provide reasonable assurance regarding the reliability of financial reporting and the preparation of financial statements for external purposes in
accordance with generally accepted accounting principles;

c) Evaluated the effectiveness of the registrant’s disclosure controls and procedures and presented in this report our conclusions about the
effectiveness of the disclosure controls and procedures, as of the end of the period covered by this report based on such evaluation; and

d) Disclosed in this report any change in the registrant’s internal control over financial reporting that occurred during the registrant’s most recent
fiscal quarter (the registrant’s fourth fiscal quarter in the case of an annual report) that has materially affected, or is reasonably likely to materially affect, the
registrant’s internal control over financial reporting; and

5. The registrant’s other certifying officer(s) and I have disclosed, based on our most recent evaluation of internal control over financial reporting, to
the registrant’s auditors and the audit committee of the registrant’s board of directors (or persons performing the equivalent functions):

a) All significant deficiencies and material weaknesses in the design or operation of internal control over financial reporting which are reasonably
likely to adversely affect the registrant’s ability to record, process, summarize and report financial information; and

b) Any fraud, whether or not material, that involves management or other employees who have a significant role in the registrant’s internal control
over financial reporting.

Date: October 22, 2012

 /s/ Gregory W. Cappelli  

 Gregory W. Cappelli 

 
Chief Executive Officer and Director
(Principal Executive Officer) 



EXHIBIT 31.2

CERTIFICATION PURSUANT TO SECTION 302
OF THE SARBANES-OXLEY ACT OF 2002

I, Brian L. Swartz, certify that:

1. I have reviewed this Form 10-K of Apollo Group, Inc. (the “registrant”);

2. Based on my knowledge, this report does not contain any untrue statement of a material fact or omit to state a material fact necessary to make the
statements made, in light of the circumstances under which such statements were made, not misleading with respect to the period covered by this report;

3. Based on my knowledge, the financial statements, and other financial information included in this report, fairly present in all material respects the
financial condition, results of operations and cash flows of the registrant as of, and for, the periods presented in this report;

4. The registrant’s other certifying officer(s) and I are responsible for establishing and maintaining disclosure controls and procedures (as defined in
Exchange Act Rules 13a-15(e) and 15d-15(e)) and internal control over financial reporting (as defined in Exchange Act Rules 13a-15(f) and 15d-15(f)) for the
registrant and have:

a) Designed such disclosure controls and procedures, or caused such disclosure controls and procedures to be designed under our supervision, to
ensure that material information relating to the registrant, including its consolidated subsidiaries, is made known to us by others within those entities,
particularly during the period in which this report is being prepared;

b) Designed such internal control over financial reporting, or caused such internal control over financial reporting to be designed under our
supervision, to provide reasonable assurance regarding the reliability of financial reporting and the preparation of financial statements for external purposes in
accordance with generally accepted accounting principles;

c) Evaluated the effectiveness of the registrant’s disclosure controls and procedures and presented in this report our conclusions about the
effectiveness of the disclosure controls and procedures, as of the end of the period covered by this report based on such evaluation; and

d) Disclosed in this report any change in the registrant’s internal control over financial reporting that occurred during the registrant’s most recent
fiscal quarter (the registrant’s fourth fiscal quarter in the case of an annual report) that has materially affected, or is reasonably likely to materially affect, the
registrant’s internal control over financial reporting; and

5. The registrant’s other certifying officer(s) and I have disclosed, based on our most recent evaluation of internal control over financial reporting, to
the registrant’s auditors and the audit committee of the registrant’s board of directors (or persons performing the equivalent functions):

a) All significant deficiencies and material weaknesses in the design or operation of internal control over financial reporting which are reasonably
likely to adversely affect the registrant’s ability to record, process, summarize and report financial information; and

b) Any fraud, whether or not material, that involves management or other employees who have a significant role in the registrant’s internal control
over financial reporting.

Date: October 22, 2012

 /s/ Brian L. Swartz  

 Brian L. Swartz 

 
Senior Vice President and Chief Financial Officer
(Principal Financial Officer) 



EXHIBIT 32.1

CERTIFICATION OF PRINCIPAL EXECUTIVE OFFICER PURSUANT TO
18 U.S.C. SECTION 1350, AS ADOPTED PURSUANT TO SECTION 906

OF THE SARBANES-OXLEY ACT OF 2002

In connection with the Annual Report of Apollo Group, Inc. (the “Company”) on Form 10-K for the year ended August 31, 2012, as filed with the
Securities and Exchange Commission on the date hereof (the “Report”), I, Gregory W. Cappelli, Chief Executive Officer of the Company, certify, pursuant to
18 U.S.C. Section 1350, as adopted pursuant to Section 906 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002, that to my knowledge:

(1) the Report fully complies with the requirements of Section 13(a) or 15(d) of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934; and
(2) the information contained in the Report fairly presents, in all material respects, the financial condition and results of operations of the Company.

Date: October 22, 2012

 /s/ Gregory W. Cappelli  

 Gregory W. Cappelli 

 
Chief Executive Officer and Director
(Principal Executive Officer) 

A signed original of this written statement required by Section 906 has been provided to Apollo Group, Inc. and will be retained by Apollo Group, Inc.
and furnished to the Securities and Exchange Commission or its staff upon request.



EXHIBIT 32.2

CERTIFICATION OF CHIEF FINANCIAL OFFICER PURSUANT TO
18 U.S.C. SECTION 1350, AS ADOPTED PURSUANT TO SECTION 906

OF THE SARBANES-OXLEY ACT OF 2002

In connection with the Annual Report of Apollo Group, Inc. (the “Company”) on Form 10-K for the year ended August 31, 2012, as filed with the
Securities and Exchange Commission on the date hereof (the “Report”), I, Brian L. Swartz, Senior Vice President and Chief Financial Officer of the
Company, certify, pursuant to 18 U.S.C. Section 1350, as adopted pursuant to Section 906 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002, that to my knowledge:

(1) the Report fully complies with the requirements of Section 13(a) or 15(d) of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934; and
(2) the information contained in the Report fairly presents, in all material respects, the financial condition and results of operations of the Company.

Date: October 22, 2012

 /s/ Brian L. Swartz  

 Brian L. Swartz 

 
Senior Vice President and Chief Financial Officer
(Principal Financial Officer) 

A signed original of this written statement required by Section 906 has been provided to Apollo Group, Inc. and will be retained by Apollo Group, Inc.
and furnished to the Securities and Exchange Commission or its staff upon request.
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Overview of the University Library 
The University Library uses current information technology to provide relevant and 
timely information in support of the learning process.  

Our library users are “knowledge workers” and busy working adults who need to 
develop the ability to access and utilize information from the desktop. For our library 
users, travelling to distant libraries that match their schedules is often inconvenient. The 
online distribution of scholarly resources provides functional access to the kinds of 
information our library users will be expected to use throughout their academic 
programs and careers. 

The core of our library website is an array of resources available to all students and 
faculty at any time and from virtually any location where an Internet connection is 
available. In addition to our numerous resource subscriptions, the library facilitates user 
education, offers document retrieval and interlibrary loan services, and provides 
research guidance. 

The online distribution of information is not only optimally matched to the needs of 
working adult learners, but also allows for equitable sharing of library resources among 
students and faculty members. University Library users enjoy access to the same broad 
spectrum of resources regardless of the location and modality of instruction. 

Obtaining Access to the University Library 
The University Library is available from the student and faculty website where you may 
also access course modules, grades, and other resources and services.  

If you encounter difficulties with access to any portion of the University Library, please 
contact the University Library Technical Support toll free at 1-800-366-9693. 

If you reside in a country other than the United States or Canada, or are unable to call a 
toll free number, you can reach technical support at 1-602-387-2222. Please provide 
technical support with a telephone number so they may call you back to minimize 
phone charges. 

Components of the University Library 
The University Library is segmented into two major components: Library Resources 
and Library Services.  Choosing the appropriate component is an essential first step in 
research. 

University Library Search Tool 
This aspect of the library website allows users to conduct research by accessing the 
library’s subscription resources using keywords. Providing Extensive contents and 
services for research, the University Library Search Tool gives users the option to select 

COPYRIGHT NOTICE: 

Materials obtained 
from the University 
Library are 
copyrighted. 
Unauthorized use 
and/or duplication is 
prohibited by national 
law and international 
treaties, including the 
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a subject specific to their research needs in order to provide them with the most 
accurate materials available to them through our resource. 

Library Resources 
The resources are organized into major categories such as “General Resources” and 
“Specialized Resources”. 

While most users search by keywords in library resources, there are other ways to 
research.  These options include: 

Choose Resources by Subject 
 The Choose Resources by Subject feature contains several topics with links to 
appropriate resources and examples of search strategies.   Prior to searching any of the 
resources for your subject, first check to see if your subject or a related subject is listed 
in the subject guides. 

View All Resources Alphabetically  
The View All Resources Alphabetically feature allows users to view each resource 
available to them in an alphabetized list. 

Find a Specific Publication 
This resource allows library users to access the library’s subscription resources by 
targeting specific documents by title. 

Library Services 
The University Library provides several means for students and faculty members to 
obtain assistance with library research. The popular “Ask a Librarian” service allows 
users to obtain detailed research guidance from experienced professional librarians. 
Over 2,000 Ask a Librarian inquiries are fulfilled each month. 

For documents not available in the University Library, the “Request a Specific 
Document” service allows users to submit requests for copies. The University Library 
has established partnerships with leading document delivery suppliers and interlibrary 
loan providers in order to facilitate access to specialized, hard-to-find materials. 

Additional features in this area include the Research Tutorial, which provides an online 
tour and orientation of the University Library, and the online version of this handbook. 

Other Resources  
These resources are available on each page of the University Library. 
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Ask a Librarian 
Our Ask a Librarian service is your pathway to obtaining professional guidance and 
recommendations regarding your research. You will receive a detailed response with 
specific referrals to appropriate resources and research techniques. A response will be 
provided in no more than 48 hours; however, average response time for inquiries 
received during the past week has been 2 hours. 

Terms and Conditions 
The terms and conditions included at the conclusion of this document are also available 
via a link presented on each page in the University Library. 

Useful Resources  
These resources are available on each page of the University Library. 

Reference and Citation Generator 
Reference and Citation Generator produces several citation examples to serve as 
Reference page entry and in-text citation models. In addition, this online tool will help 
you draft properly formatted APA reference page entries and in-text citations. However, 
the Generator will not fix errors or typos that you entered in the various fields. Make 
sure that you review the populated entries for APA accuracy before using the entries in 
your papers. 

APA Information 
The APA Information link presents you with sample papers and title page templates as 
well as a citation examples and a links to the Reference and Citation Generator. This 
link provides a quick, easy-to-use reference for formatting in-text citations and 
references for books, articles, websites, course materials, simulations, and other 
sources.  

Grammar and Writing Guides 
The Grammar and Writing Guides are easy-to-read resources for students and faculty 
that contain a Grammar Glossary and sections on Grammar Mechanics, Writing Style, 
and Plagiarism. The Grammar and Writing Guides also contain helpful information for 
English Language Learners. Each section includes definitions, examples, and 
interactive quizzes. 

Selecting a Resource 
The University Library includes numerous resources covering a wide variety of media 
and subjects. The listings below provide detailed information to assist in choosing an 
appropriate resource.  

*The following resources are listed as found in the University of Phoenix, Axia 
College, College for Financial Planning, and Western International University libraries. 
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Universidad Latinoamericana and Universidad UNIACC library information is listed 
under the Spanish Resources heading. 

General Resources 
These resources are appropriate for all subjects and are configured to provide full-text 
articles.  

EBSCOhost 
Gale PowerSearch  
ProQuest 
 

Specialized Resources 
These resources provide overviews and full-text articles on various specialized topics.  
 
ABI/INFORM  
ACM Digital Library  
American Health Line  
Best-In-Class Benchmarking Reports  
BioMed Central  
Business & Company Resource Center  
Business Source Complete  
CQ Electronic Library  
Datamonitor 360  
Demographics Now  
DSM-IV-TR 
Economist.com  
EdITLib  
Emerald  
Faulkner's Advisory on Computers and Communications Technologies  
GreenFILE  
Hospitality & Tourism Complete   
IEEE Computer Society Digital Library  
International Security and Counter Terrorism Reference Center  
Journal of Leadership Studies  
JSTOR  
Literature Resource Center  
Medical Evidence Matters  
Medical Letter  
National Journal  
Natural Medicines Comprehensive Database  
NBER Working Papers  
Nursing Reference Center  
Nursing@Ovid  
Opposing Viewpoints in Context  
Oxford Journals  
Phoenix Focus 
Prescriber's Letter  
ProQuest Business  
ProQuest Health and Medicine  
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ProQuest News and Newspapers  
ProQuest Social Sciences  
PsycARTICLES  
RDS Business Reference Suite  
Roll Call  
SAGE Full-Text Collections  
Security Management Practices 
UpToDate 

Books, Dissertations, and Theses 
These resources provide a searchable collection of larger text documents, dissertations, 
and book chapters on various disciplines and topics. 
 
Books 24x7  
Books@Ovid  
Business Book Summaries  
Dissertations & Theses @ University of Phoenix  
Emerald Social Sciences eBooks  
Forensic & Law Enforcement netBASE  
Info Security netBASE  
ITECH netBASE  
MyiLibrary  
Oxford Scholarship Online   
ProQuest Dissertations and Theses - Full Text  
PsycBOOKS  
Taylor and Francis Criminal Justice eBooks 

Company Directories and Financials 
These resources provide company profiles, financials and analysis, industry averages, 
statistics, market research and trends, and content for various other aspects of company 
operations.   
 
Dun & Bradstreet Key Business Ratios  
Hoover's Academic  
Hoover's First Research  
IBISWorld  
Mergent BondViewer  
Mergent Online  
Mergent's InvestorEdge  
Morningstar  
Plunkett Research Online  
ProQuest Accounting and Tax  
ProQuest Historical Annual Reports  
ProQuest Snapshots 

Country Profiles and Economic Data 
These resources provide comprehensive information on economic, social, cultural, 
political, and demographic trends for countries and regions worldwide.  
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CountryWatch  
Culturegrams  
EIU Country Data  
EIU Country Intelligence  
EIU Market Indicators & Forecasts  
EIU Viewswire  
Euromonitor International  
Europa World Plus  
IMF E-Library  
IMF eLibrary - Data 
 
Encyclopedias and Dictionaries 
These resources include searchable bibliographies of historical people who shaped 
American and international history, encyclopedias, and dictionaries. 
 
American National Biography   
Britannica Online   
Credo Reference   
Gale Virtual Reference Library   
Grolier Multimedia Encyclopedia   
Original Sources from Britannica   
Oxford Art Online   
Oxford Dictionary of National Biography   
Oxford English Dictionary   
Oxford Music Online  
Oxford Reference Online  
Routledge Encyclopedia of Philosophy   
Routledge Politics and International Relations Online   
Routledge Religion Online   
Sage eReference   
Webster's Third New International Dictionary, Unabridged   
 

Government Resources 
These resources provide comprehensive information on economic, health, educational, 
environmental, and demographic trends for the United States of America.  
 
Homeland Security Digital Library   
National Center for Education Statistics   
National Center for Health Statistics   
National Service Center for Environmental Publications   
Statistical Abstract of the United States   
Uniform Crime Reports   

Journal Indexes and Abstracts 
These resources contain listings and summaries of a wide variety of documents.  
Please note that these resources are not completely full-text. For some documents  
identified in search results, there will be links to the full text of the documents.  
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Other documents not available in full-text may have to be obtained from other resources 
 or in hard copy. 
 
CINAHL   
Cochrane Collection   
Criminal Justice Abstracts with Full Text 
Directory of Open Access Journals   
EconLit   
Education Research Complete   
ERIC   
Google Scholar   
JournalSeek   
Library, Information Science & Technology Abstracts (LISTA)   
MEDLINE   
PsycEXTRA   
PsycINFO   
ScienceDirect   
SocINDEX   
 

Multimedia 
These resources provide information in a variety of media formats including transcripts, 
pictures, videos and more.  
 
American History in Video 
Counseling and Psychotherapy Transcripts, Client Narratives, and Reference 
 Works   
Counseling and Therapy in Video   
EBSCOhost Multimedia 
Economist.com Audio and Video Collection 
Facts on File   
Films on Demand 
Global Issues in Context   
GREENR   
Health and Wellness Resource Center  
History Study Center 
HW Wilson Art Museum  
Medcom Nursing Video Collection   
Primal Pictures Anatomy 
Sage Research Methods Online 
 

Test Guides and Preparations 
These resources provide listings and reviews of test instruments and numerous 
standardized practice tests, including CLEP.   
 
Mental Measurements Yearbook 
Testing and Education Resource Center 
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Writing and Publishing Resources 
These resources provide professional bibliographical lists of videos and books in 
various formats; searchable directory of calls for participation from professional 
associations; and explanations, illustrations, and quizzes to measure knowledge of 
English grammar, punctuation, and sentence structure.  
 
Books in Print 
Papers Invited 
Ulrich’s Periodicals Directory 
 

Spanish Resources 
Spanish resources are available to all users. Students accessing the Universidad 
Latinoamericana and Universidad UNIACC libraries will find these resources listed as 
Recursos de la Biblioteca en Español on their library homepage. Users from other 
institutions will find these resources listed alphabetically on the View All Resources 
Alphabetically list under the Library Resources section. Materials in these resources are 
listed primarily in Spanish with a focus on Spanish speaking regions and cultures. 
 
Administración de Empresas   
e-Libro   
Enciclopedia Universal en Español   
Fuente Académica   
Libros en Español a la Venta   
Medicina y Salud   
Noticias de América Latina   
Universitas   

Using Boolean Searching to Harness the Power of Library 
Resources 
If you have used any of the popular Internet search engines, you may be used to typing 
a phrase or a question in order to find a Web site you are looking for. While this 
strategy will sometimes work for public Web sites identified through well-known 
search engines, article resources found in libraries work a bit differently. Many library 
resources are fairly literal in the way they interpret the searches users submit. These 
resources tend to look for the exact words typed in their exact order of appearance. As a 
result, searches that consist of long phrases, complete sentences, or questions are often 
unsuccessful.  
 
Fortunately, there is an alternative: Boolean searching. Boolean searching is a way of 
searching for topics by breaking the topics down into keywords and joining the 
keywords together using the operators and, or, not or wildcards.  
 

And 
And joins two or more different keywords together to ensure that all the keywords are 
mentioned in all of the articles retrieved. For example, typing automation and human 
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resources forces the resource to show only those articles that mention both automation 
and human resources. Any number of keywords can be joined using and.  
 

Or 
While and joins two different ideas together, or is used for related words. Or allows 
either keyword or both keywords to be present. Or is best suited for joining two 
synonyms or related keywords. The search human resources or personnel, for 
example, will find any articles mentioning human resources, personnel, or both 
keywords. Or searches tend to find vast amounts of information and are usually not 
useful unless combined with and. 
 

And and Or 
And and or can work together to create more sophisticated searches. For example, the 
two searches mentioned above could be combined as automation and (human 
resources or personnel). Note that when and and or are combined, the or statements 
should go in parentheses to make sure that the search is processed correctly. 
 

Not 
Not excludes an undesirable keyword from search results. For example, market and 
shoes not United States will look for articles on the market for shoes outside the 
United States. 
 

Wildcards 
Wildcards are another tool to add power to searches. Wildcards allow different word 
endings to be accounted for using just one symbol. Usually this symbol is the asterisk 
(*). When a wildcard is placed at the end of a root word, any possible endings can be 
added to the root word. For example, a search for information on telecommuting could 
be done with the keyword telecommut* As a result, articles mentioning 
telecommuting, telecommuter, telecommuters, telecommute, and telecommutes will 
all appear in the search results. 
 

Finding Peer Reviewed Articles in Library Resources 
Faculty members and students often express an interest in finding publications that are 
considered to be peer reviewed, also known as refereed. Since the various resources in 
the University Library all contain a broad spectrum of publication types, it is important 
to understand how to separate peer reviewed journals from newspapers, trade journals, 
and popular magazines. 
 

What is Peer Review? 
Peer review is a process designed to ensure the quality of published scholarship. When 
a scholar submits a manuscript to a peer reviewed publication, a panel of the author’s 
peers evaluates the manuscript to assess the quality of research. These peers are not 
chosen by the individual author; instead, they are recognized leaders in their fields who 

COPYRIGHT NOTICE: 

Materials obtained 
from the University 
Library are 
copyrighted. 
Unauthorized use 
and/or duplication is 
prohibited by national 
law and international 
treaties, including the 
Berne Convention. 

 



UNIVERSITY LIBRARY HANDBOOK  

14 
 

have been selected to serve on the editorial board of the journal. The identity of the 
author is usually unknown to the reviewers to ensure that no personal bias influences 
the acceptance or rejection of articles. Once the manuscript has been reviewed in this 
manner, it may be published, rejected, or sent back to the author for modification. 
 

Why is Peer Review Important? 
While many undergraduate students may not be aware of peer review, faculty members 
and graduate students routinely look to peer review as a way of guaranteeing the quality 
of scholarship. For graduate and even upper division undergraduate courses, insisting 
on the use of peer reviewed publications is an effective means of ensuring the quality of 
sources cited in a paper, presentation, or research project. Peer reviewed publications 
are more likely to back their conclusions with primary research and verifiable statistical 
analysis. In addition, articles in peer reviewed publications are less likely to be subject 
to the biases of their authors or editors. 
 

Locating Peer Reviewed Material 
Some vendors offer a checkbox on the initial search screen allowing for search results 
to be limited to only those articles from peer reviewed publications. Checking this box 
will result in fewer search results since this feature filters articles, but it will also result 
in a set of articles found exclusively in peer reviewed publications. 
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Searching Library Resources vs. Searching the Internet 
Users of the library resources frequently ask what makes these resources different from 
Internet search engines such as Yahoo!® and Google™. The table below shows the 
differences in several key areas.  

Area of 
Comparison 

Library Resources Internet Search 
Engines 

Type of material Articles from published 
newspapers, magazines, journals, 
newsletters, investment reports, 
financial documents, and 
reference books. Most of these 
documents cannot be retrieved 
using Internet search engines. 

Web sites that are freely 
available to the general 
public. These will include 
the websites of 
companies, individuals, 
government agencies, non-
profit organizations, 
colleges, and universities. 
However, access to the 
type of copyrighted 
publications found in 
library resources will be 
limited. 
 

Reliability of 
material 

Generally high since all the 
publications in library resources 
are subject to some sort of 
editorial or peer review before 
publication. 

Varied. Some websites 
from reputable organi-
zations will contain 
reliable information. 
However, because web 
publishing is inexpensive 
and easy, a great deal of 
advertising, adult 
materials, demagoguery, 
and other materials not 
appropriate for academic 
research will be included. 

Best used for... Searching for published articles 
corresponding to academic or 
news topics. 
 

Searching for the websites 
of specific organizations, 
searching for information 
distributed by government 
agencies for non-profit 
organizations, and 
searching for information 
on popular culture. 



UNIVERSITY LIBRARY HANDBOOK  

16 
 

Recommended 
search 
technique 

Some resources allow limited 
natural language searching. 
However, since this technology is 
limited in its strength, Boolean 
searching with and and or is 
recommended for best results. 

Varied. Check the online 
help of each search engine 
for best results. Some will 
use natural language 
searching, some will use 
Boolean searching with 
and and or, while some 
will use +  
and –. 

Method of 
displaying 
results 

Results are displayed in reverse 
chronological order. In other 
words, the most recent items are 
displayed first. 

Results are displayed 
according to the frequency 
with which the search 
terms appear.  In theory, 
this should result in the 
most relevant items 
appearing first. However, 
results vary in actual 
practice. 
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Terms and Conditions 

General Terms and Conditions for use of “University Library” 
Services. 
Effective March 1, 2001 
By using and downloading materials from the University Library, you (“You” or 
“Authorized User”) are indicating your acceptance of the terms, conditions, and 
disclaimers set forth in this document and the documents incorporated by reference 
herein (collectively, the “Agreement”). PLEASE READ THESE TERMS AND 
CONDITIONS CAREFULLY. IF YOU DO NOT AGREE TO THESE TERMS AND 
CONDITIONS DO NOT USE THE UNIVERSITY LIBRARY OR ANY OF ITS 
SERVICES.  
 
In consideration for the privilege of using the University Library, you (the Authorized 
User) hereby release the Apollo Group Inc. and its information providers, officers, 
employees, attorneys, agents, vendors, and any other institutions with which the Apollo 
Group Inc. is affiliated from any and all claims of any nature arising from its use or lack 
of availability. 
 
The following terms and conditions govern your (Authorized User’s) use of the 
University Library services and the materials available therein: 

 

License/Restrictions on Use 
• You warrant and represent that You are authorized to use the University 

Library and are either a student enrolled in a course at University of Phoenix, 
Axia College, College for Financial Planning, Meritus University, or Western 
International University, or are faculty of, administration, of, or a third party 
contracting with University of Phoenix, Axia College, College for Financial 
Planning, Meritus University, Western International University, or Apollo 
Group, Inc. 

 
• You, the Authorized User, will be granted a revocable, nonexclusive, 

nontransferable, limited license to access and use the University Library for 
purposes of non-commercial, personal, academic, education or related 
administrative purposes only. 

 
• You, the Authorized User, agree to comply with the terms and conditions of all 

third party content providers (“Third Party Terms”). You indemnify and hold 
Apollo Group Inc., its officers, employees and its information providers 
harmless from and against any loss, claims, demands, expenses, or liability of 
whatever nature or kind (including without limitation, negligence), of 
Authorized User or of third parties arising out of any violation by You of Third 
Party Terms.  Any such violation may result in immediate termination of access 
to the University Library.   
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• You, the Authorized User, shall use all reasonable efforts to protect the 
University Library from any use that is not permitted under this Agreement, 
and shall notify the University Library of any such use of which it is learned or 
are notified. 

 
• You, the Authorized User, shall not publish, sell or otherwise redistribute these 

materials for commercial purposes. You will use the University Library 
databases for only the uses specified in this Agreement. academic research and 
personal use only. 

 
• You, the Authorized User, will not use spiders, robots, crawlers, wanderers, or 

any means to automatically download the content of any of the University 
Library databases. 

 
• You, the Authorized User, may download and print, both in limited amounts, 

and store single copies of material found through the University Library for 
your personal academic use. You shall  not photocopy the material, post 
material in online classrooms, Internet newsgroups, listservs, Web sites, or any 
other means of electronic redistribution, or adapt, upload, broadcast, reverse 
engineer, duplicate, publish, modify, disseminate, display, perform, transfer or 
otherwise distribute materials other than as allowed by this paragraph. 

Access to Services 
• Only individuals authorized by the University Library may access and use the 

library resources. You, the Authorized User, may not share the user name and 
your access password with any other person. 

 
• You, the Authorized User, will not attempt to obtain unauthorized access to the 

server hosting the University Library’s web site or to any of the servers 
maintained by the University Library’s information providers. 

 
• You, the Authorized User, will not engage in actions which cause a denial of 

access to the University Library to other Authorized Users. 

Proprietary Rights 
• You, the Authorized User, will agree to observe the United States copyright 

laws and international copyright conventions in your use of the University 
Library.  

Disclaimer of Warranties 
• The data and services furnished hereunder are furnished “AS IS.” The 

University Library and its information providers make no representations or 
warranties of fitness for a particular purpose or merchantability, nor are any 
such warranties, conditions, or representations (express, implied, oral or 
written) of quality, performance, or merchantability, relating to the database or 
any part thereof, are to be implied with respect to the data or services furnished. 
The University Library further expressly disclaims any warranty or 
representation to Authorized Users, or to any third party. 
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• The information obtained through the University Library is intended for 
purposes of reference, academic research, and private study only. It is not 
intended to replace professional consultation. 

• The University Library and its information providers shall not be liable or 
deemed to be in default for any delays or failure in performance or interruption 
of Service resulting directly or indirectly from any cause or circumstance 
beyond their reasonable control. The Authorized User agrees to indemnify and 
hold Apollo Group Inc., its officers, employees and its information providers 
harmless from and against any loss, claims, demands, expenses, or liability of 
whatever nature or kind (including without limitation, negligence), of 
Authorized User or of third parties arising out of the use of service of the 
University Library or materials provided hereunder. 

Applicable Laws 
• Any claim arising under or relating to this Agreement shall be governed by the 

substantive laws of the State of Arizona or federal courts for the jurisdiction of 
Arizona, without regard to principles of conflict of laws. The Authorized User 
consents to the exclusive jurisdiction and venue of courts in Maricopa County, 
Arizona, USA, in all disputes arising out of or relating to this Agreement. 

Miscellaneous 
• This Agreement constitutes the entire agreement of the parties and supersedes 

all prior communications, understandings and agreements relating to the subject 
matter hereof, whether oral or written. 

 
• The failure of the provider of the University Library or any third party supplier 

of materials to enforce any provision hereof shall not constitute or be construed 
as a waiver of such provision or of the right to enforce it at a later time. 

 
• If any provision or provisions of this Agreement shall be held to be invalid, 

illegal, unenforceable or in conflict with the law of any jurisdiction, the 
validity, legality and enforceability of the remaining provisions shall not in any 
way be affected or impaired thereby. 

 
• Failure to comply with these terms and conditions may result in denial of 

access to the University Library and other Web sites of Apollo Group Inc. 
Additional penalties may be imposed if failure to comply with these terms and 
conditions is also in violation of student or faculty codes of conduct. 
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EXECUTIVE SUMMARY

As technology becomes more embedded in our daily lives, higher education must adapt and evolve to 
keep pace. Access to information has been democratized through technological innovation while much 
of academia continues to cling to traditional conventions of closed sources of information. The way 
people work and play have changed, but the way students are expected to learn, for the most part, has 
not.

More to the point, however, is that higher education is charged with preparing the next generation 
to work in a world that differs greatly from what was expected of workers in the Manufacturing Age. 
The current structure of higher education generally lacks the flexibility to adapt to today’s economic 
environment. Many traditional systems are not nimble when attempting to implement new curriculum, 
new courses of study, or innovative technologies. 

Standing in the way of integrating e-learning  are obstacles that include monetary considerations 
and the concept that e-learning is for distance education only. These must be overcome. Technology 
enables more engaged learning and increased access. Classrooms that truly prepare students for the new 
workplace must include blended learning—a combination of face to face and technology.

What is absolutely critical to the classroom today is a move from a teaching focus to a learning focus. 
This can be accomplished in a technology-enhanced environment. The challenge lies not in change per 
se, but in the rational implementation of transformation in ways that allow for an evolutionary rather 
than a revolutionary execution.

The key to implementing e-learning and getting buy-in from faculty and students alike is to ensure 
that the integration is properly planned. Faculty need adequate training and support that goes beyond 
a hot- line to call when systems are down. Students need to understand how to evaluate websites and 
information as well as how to organize their knowledge. And most importantly, students must be skilled 
critical thinkers.

The evolution of University of Phoenix has been inextricably linked with advances in technology from 
the introduction of the online campus in 1989 to the numerous technology-enhanced academic assets 
and student services available 24/7 anywhere Internet access is available. The discussion concerning 
integrating technology concludes by looking forward for what is to come next at the University— the 
untapped potential of ambient intelligence and adaptive learning.

The Scorecard section of the report details how University of Phoenix students compare 
demographically, as well as academically with their peers at other like institutions nationally.  As in past 
years, the University’s students rate their experience to be positive in all surveyed areas as reported on 
End-of-Course, End-of-Program, and Alumni surveys. This includes the quality of faculty, curriculum, 
and services. 

This year’s results of the Standardized Assessment of Information Literacy Skills (SAILS), University 
seniors are equivalent in all eight areas as compared to seniors at other institutions. In addition, 
University of Phoenix seniors outperform or are equivalent to University of Phoenix freshmen in all 
eight areas. 

The ETS®Proficiency Profile showed a slight decline in seniors’ performance to the comparison group. 
However, the differences between the two groups were slight and of limited significance. 

Finally, the graduation rates for University associate and master levels show an increase; the bachelor 
level declined. The University believes most of the decline can be attributed to an increase in the 
number of students transferring in with zero credits.
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Realizing the need for accessible, quality higher education that could attend to the way 
many prospective students lived their lives, Dr. John Sperling created University of 
Phoenix, a new and somewhat unorthodox approach to higher education that catered 
to the adult student who worked and could not attend classes during the day. Today the 
unorthodox has become commonplace and a new need exists, one that requires higher 
education to innovate and renovate to match the way our students live, and beyond that, 
mirror how society currently functions. 

Higher education stands as a monolith in a dynamic, rapidly evolving society in which 
access to information has been democratized through technological innovation while 
much of academia clings to traditional conventions of closed sources of information. 
The way people work and play have changed, but the way students are expected to learn, 
for the most part, has not. 

WHY HIGHER EDUCATION MUST CHANGE

For academic institutions, charged with equipping 
graduates to compete in today’s knowledge 
economy, the possibilities are great. Distance 
education, sophisticated learning-management 
systems and the opportunity to collaborate with 
research partners from around the world are 
just some of the transformational benefits that 
universities are embracing.
“The Future of Higher Education: How Technology Will Shape Learning”  

The Economist 2008

The skills required for today’s Information 
Age workplace are far different than they 
were in the Manufacturing Age. Today’s 
students must be prepared to work in a world 
that expects them to be globally aware, have 
financial and entrepreneurial literacy, and be 
information and media savvy. To accomplish 
that, they must be innovative and creative and 
have honed their abilities in critical thinking 
and problem solving, along with being self-
directed, adaptable, and accountable.1 The 
traditional classroom is not designed to 
encourage the development of these skills. 

The current structure of higher education for the most part, lacks the flexibility to 
adapt to today’s economic environment. Traditional systems frequently are not nimble 
when attempting to implement new curriculum, new courses of study, or innovative 
technologies. In addition, higher education is severely hampered by the economic 
environment of our country—most notably a lack of funding. This causes major issues 
for public institutions relying on state subsidies and funding. Private institutions have 
also seen a major decrease in donations and alumni support. Reduced funding translates 
into a lack of flexibility that in turn limits any desired scalability or meaningful reform. 

Impediments to Integrating e-Learning
In addition to monetary considerations, other factors can impede the integration of 
e-learning. One is the perception that e-learning is for distance education only. In 
fact, e-learning is for all students. As noted in a study by Apple Corporation, “Apple 
Classrooms of Tomorrow – Today: Learning in the 21st Century,”2 we are at the 
“confluence of three influences.” These include: 

•	 Globalization
•	 Interdependence and competition
•	 Technology innovations in education 
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According to the report, technology enables more engaged learning and increased 
access. If this is so, why would those advantages be limited only to those engaging in 
distance learning? The classrooms of the 21st-century must include blended learning at 
every level. 

The Apple report suggests the following six design principles for 21st century education, 
noting that these principles can best be accomplished with the addition of technology:

It is insufficient for learners to merely attain 
concepts in isolation, yielding knowledge that 
frequently remains static. Rather, students must 
form and continually adapt their understanding 
of the world as they collaborate with other 
students to solve authentic problems presented 
in meaningful tasks.
 Teaching Constructivist Science, Bentley, Ebert, & Ebert, 2007

need the assistance in order to succeed. 
This is particularly evident in the sciences 
and math, where we find much reluctance 
to allow technology into the classrooms to 
assist students, while the use of grammar and 
spell checkers is seen as totally appropriate. 
Dr. Edyburn concludes that “the definition 
of fairness is everyone gets what they need. 
Technology offers viable options to enhance 
performance by providing cognitive supports 
and appropriate tools.”

If this situation is to change, traditional beliefs such as “naked independence,” and what 
defines an educated person, will have to be challenged. Colleges and universities can no 
longer remain one dimensional repositories of knowledge in a three-dimensional world. 
They must evolve to a place where students can acquire knowledge and skills they can 
use to solve complex problems for the rest of their lives.5  Traditional models and roles, 
including the role of the faculty, will need to be re-examined.

•	 Skills outcomes
•	 Relevant and applied curriculum
•	 Informative assessments
•	 Social and emotional connection
•	 Culture of creativity and innovation
•	 24/7 access to tools and resources

To educate effectively a larger number of Americans than are being educated today,  
education must focus on all students, not just those who are currently succeeding. 
In an article titled “Failure Is Not an Option,” Dr. David Edyburn of the University 
of Wisconsin questions, “How long do we let students fail at given tasks before we 
get them appropriate performance support tools?”3 And while the focus on learning 
outcomes is usually on the positives, failure at learning tasks also produces outcomes 
but not the kind the institution or the student want. Too often, Dr. Edyburn suggests, 
the current perception is biased in favor of “naked independence.”4 This refers to those 
students or people who can perform without assistance, and we devalue those who 
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Many faculty members continue to view their roles as being the locus of knowledge 
transfer through teaching. Many continue to believe the lecture/mid-term/final format 
to be an immutable standard. However, increasingly there are those who feel not only 
that this one-size academia does not fit all students but also is actually archaic. 

Dr. Joe Redish of the University of Maryland has conducted research on the changes 
that need to be made to the way college students are taught. He posits that the roots of 
the lecture go back thousands of years. And before printing was widespread, “someone 
would read the books” while the listeners would copy down what was read. Professor 
Redish also points out that, “the word lecture comes from the Latin word meaning ‘to 

…the crucial element in blended learning is an 
appropriate balance of face-to-face teaching and 
technology use. Neither the computer nor the 
World Wide Web is meant to replace instructor 
both are supplements to instructor-developed 
lesson plans, but technology can provide a 
myriad of benefits including the development 
of independent learners, a source of instant 
feedback, and motivation to learners.
Blended Learning: Using technology in and beyond the language 

classroom, Pete Sharma and Barney Barrett 2007

read.’”6 Dr. Redish recounts that his 
lecture-style classes reached only those 
“who do really well and are motivated,” 
so he began to seek ways to reach 
the students who weren’t teaching 
themselves.7  Dr. Redish and other like-
minded academics took note of the work 
cognitive scientists were doing that 
indicated people’s short–term memories 
were limited and could not absorb and 
retain all the information presented 
in lecture format.8 And this may be 
particularly true for those students who 
have grown up in a world of immediacy. 

What is absolutely critical to the classroom today is to move from a teaching focus to 
a learning focus. This can be accomplished in a technology-enhanced environment. 
If Amazon can employ a platform that adapts to its users and anticipates their 
preferences, why can’t educational platforms, which by doing so could reach a larger 
percentage of students?  The challenge lies not in change, per se, but in the rational 
implementation of transformation in ways that allow for an evolutionary rather than a 
revolutionary execution.

Faculty members need to be reassured that technology is merely a tool. It is not 
intended to be a replacement; it is meant to empower them and to assist the student to 
excel. Research reported in the article, “Bring Academics On Board,” reveals a range 
of pedagogical motivations for the development of e-learning environments, which, 
perhaps not surprisingly, complement the six design principles outlined by the Apple 
report. These include the following:

•	 Catering more effectively to the learning needs of different student 
groups and learning styles 

•	 Improving learning outcomes 
•	 Improving retention and progression rates 
•	 Challenging students to become learner centred [sic] , self-directed, 

resourceful and independent learners
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•	 Engaging students in the learning experience
•	 Revitalising  [sic] and re-energising [sic] the curriculum
•	 Providing a richer learning experience9

One way to build students cognitively is through 
creativity.  Technology is widely accepted as a way for 
students to think more critically during learning.  This 
critical thinking through technology gives students 
opportunities to think more creatively, therefore 
bolstering their higher order thinking skills.  One method 
of having students accomplish this is through design.
“Creativity in Technology Education”  

Singer Science and Business Media, T. Lewis, 2008

“shiny object” fascination will diminish 
concentration on the core content 
and reduce learning.11  And while this 
research was done in Australia and may 
appear to be somewhat dated, it is still 
relevant to many in academia today. 

In a 2010 article in The Chronicle 
of Higher Education,12 Marc Parry 
interviewed Nicholas Carr, former 
editor of the Harvard Business 
Review and author of several articles 
and books debating the role of computers in business and the classroom. His list of 
publications includes articles such as  “IT Doesn’t Matter” and “Is Google Making Us 
Stupid?” His recent book, The Shallows, is a 2011 Pulitzer Prize nominee and a New York 
Times bestseller. Mr. Carr believes that the Internet is “rewiring our brains and short 
circuiting our ability to think” and that it can “impede understanding, comprehension, 
and learning.” In addition, Carr makes an excellent point regarding Internet research 
indicating that when researching online using a search engine such as Google, results 
shown at the top are determined by popularity, not necessarily by relevance and 
reliability. Researchers using these resources could end up using the same materials and 
as a result, all coming to the same conclusions. Finally, and perhaps the most important 
point, Carr believes that unless properly planned, technology can keep people from 
“transferring information from short-term to long-term memory.” 

Properly Planned Integration
The key to both implementing e-learning and getting buy-in from faculty and students 
alike is to ensure that it is, as Carr referenced, “properly planned.”  To ensure that 
research is not purely surface study, students need to understand how to evaluate 
websites and information and to organize their knowledge. They must be skilled critical 
thinkers. Students must have access not only to Internet research, but also to libraries 
containing peer-reviewed works and books. They also need to be encouraged and led 
toward deep learning and reflection by the faculty through deep teaching. In addition, 
properly planned technology always has an academic purpose and application. If it does 
not, if it is merely a shiny object, the faculty and the students will ultimately reject it.

Properly planned technology must be aligned with strong support systems. Technology 
implementation can happen only if 24/7 support is reliably available. And support 
does not simply mean the voice at the end of a phone line at the help desk. Support, 

However, in spite of these findings, the authors report that many academics still believe 
that e-learning can cause “limited working memory, split attention, and cognitive 
overload that arise from multiple representations of content.” 10 This combined with the 
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particularly for the faculty, includes giving faculty members the time necessary to learn 
the new technology and how it applies to what they are teaching. Support can also mean 
a dedicated team of researchers, software developers, and instructional designers who 
work with faculty members to ensure relevance and applicability.

Virtual classrooms must also change. Frequently, online courses are created using the 
same pedagogies and curriculum as are used in the traditional classroom. Often courses 
are simply taken verbatim and taught online. Much as writing for online reading differs 

Given the increasing evidence that Internet 
information and communication technologies are 
transforming much of society, there is little reason to 
believe that it will not be the defining transformative 
innovation for higher education in the 21st century. 
Transformation of learning environments in higher 
education settings for an increasingly electronic world 
is critical to ensure that the benefits are fully realized. 
“Learning on-line: A review of recent literature in a rapidly expanding field”.  

Journal of Further and Higher Education  

Christina Williams,  University of Brighton, 2002

both in style and design from that in print, online learning has distinctive characteristics 
and different methodologies and techniques; consequently, classroom management tools 
are required to create the proper environment.

And finally, in a properly planned blended 
learning environment the students must 
have the option, much as we all do in 
our daily lives, of technology when they 
want it and face-to-face when they want 
or need that. Many organizations do 
quite well blending bricks and mortar 
with online interaction. Banks provide 
the convenience of self-service for basic 
transactions. Electronic deposits are 
the norm today for paychecks. Today 
online banking and bill paying is available 
through all the main and even smaller 
banks. Yet, if banking customers have 

questions or need documentation and/or services that are not available online, they 
can and do visit their local bank to speak with a staff member. The public does not think 
of one bank as an “online bank” and another as a “bricks and mortar” institution. It is 
inconsistent that educators persist in thinking that educational opportunities must be 
defined in this either/or manner.

In short, higher education must adapt to our changing society and abandon the outdated 
myth that knowledge is a hidden truth locked up in the institution to be revealed only by 
faculty. Knowledge is everywhere and we must now provide responsible and accountable 
access to it or be prepared for the students to find that access elsewhere. Google and 
Wikipedia are providing unparalleled access to information that is or may be uneven in 
quality in many cases; our educational system needs to provide immediate access to the 
skills and knowledge on how to find, validate, and manage information.

ACADEMIC TECHNOLOGY AT UNIVERSITY OF PHOENIX
As described in the opening paragraph, University of Phoenix was the product of the 
necessity to provide access to those who wanted to earn a degree, but who could not do 
so in the traditional system. Dr. Sperling recognized that in real life, designations like 
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In 1989, University of Phoenix pioneered 
online education. It was innovative and 
controversial. Today, with the advent 
of the Internet, almost all colleges and 
universities offer at least some online 
instruction and many see it as a way 
into the future. In the mid-1990s, the 
University again sent waves through 
higher education by developing a 
virtual library, and by the start of the 
21st century, had extended this digital 
approach to textbooks and supporting 
educational resources for students. Today, 
digitizing content is commonplace in 
higher education. 

Engaged Technology
The evolution of University of Phoenix has been inextricably linked with advances in 
technology. Computers and laptops are giving way to smartphones and tablets with 
previously unimagined capacities and capabilities. However, as Dr. Mark Weiser, Chief 
Technology Officer at Xerox Palo Alto Research Center (PARC) understood as early as 
1991: 

The most profound technologies are those that disappear. They weave themselves 
into the fabric of everyday life until they are indistinguishable from it. Say goodbye 
to your computer—it’s about to disappear. That is, it will be so much a part of your life 
that you won’t even know it’s there.13  

Dr. Weiser’s vision is close to reality in almost every aspect of life today and that’s where 
the University intends to take our technology systems. 

At the core of providing students with an engaged learning experience is the need to 
provide resources that support students’ success and increase their ability to interact 
with the faculty and with their classmates. From the outset, University of Phoenix has 
worked hard to meet these challenges. Today technology is embedded throughout the 
students’ experience. Of significance is the fact that technology enables a robust array 
of scalable, digital resources to all students and faculty members, regardless of their 
primary mode of delivery.

In order to have engaged learning, tasks need to 
be challenging, authentic, and multidisciplinary. 
Such tasks are typically complex and involve 
sustained amounts of time. They are authentic in 
that they correspond to the tasks in the home and 
workplaces of today and tomorrow. Collaboration 
around authentic tasks often takes place with peers 
and mentors within school as well as with family 
members and others in the real world outside 
of school. These tasks often require integrated 
instruction that incorporates problem-based 
learning and curriculum by project.
North Central Regional Educational Laboratory, 1994

“worker,” “parent,” and even “student” represented aspects of a seamless life in which 
these roles could and should coexist simultaneously and fluidly rather than as individual 
and walled facets that are each distinct and separate in their essence. Offering access to 
allow that coexistence was and is the goal of the University. And it is that mix of work, 
family, and education that is a daily reality for almost three-quarters of all students 
enrolled in institutions throughout the country today.
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It is also significant to note that technology is not just an “add on,” a tool to supplement 
traditional curriculum. Technology is a primary means of touching and developing 
students from initial contact and throughout their total education experience. An 
example of the former is the Phoenix Prep Center, which has correlates at many 
institutions. Prospective students interested in the University—in any modality—can 
sign on to the Phoenix Prep Center to learn about the University and about themselves. 
Interested users can take a variety of assessments that include learning styles, college 
readiness, and technology.

In addition, there are a number of virtual student support services, learning assets, and 
tools available to assist and support student development and success. For example, 
University of Phoenix utilizes a Student and Faculty Portal. All students and faculty 
have access to a portal which allows them to perform a multitude of administrative and 
support functions, and to access academic materials, learning assets, and tools. For 
students and instructors involved in classes via the online modality, the portal is the 
entry point for their classrooms. For students and faculty attending local campuses, the 
portal provides learning materials and forums for collaboration in Learning Teams and 
the ability to submit assignments and receive graded assignments with feedback from 
faculty between class meetings.

Students, regardless of the modality in which they are enrolled, can also do the following 
via the portal:

•	 Review contact information
•	 Register for classes
•	 Pay tuition
•	 Meet with a representative online
•	 Request transcripts 
•	 Submit assignments
•	 Receive graded assignments with feedback
•	 Obtain grades

Workshops are also available via the student and faculty portal that students can take to 
improve their basic skills in areas important for student success. Student workshops in 
the following areas are offered on a weekly basis:

•	 Accounting and Finance
•	 Computer Skills
•	 Math and Statistics
•	 Personal Skills
•	 Writing

University of Phoenix faculty can access an online, automated Gradebook via the 
student and faculty portal. The Gradebook is customizable for each course based on 
the faculty member’s assessments. Using the Gradebook, the faculty can organize 
and monitor assessments, allocate grade points, and provide private quantitative and 
qualitative feedback to students. The faculty can also set up and assign Learning Teams. 
All information for students (team assignments, feedback, grades, etc.) is immediately 
transmitted to them, and faculty members do not have to communicate separately via 
email or other media. 
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In addition, faculty members can notify the administration if they note that a student 
is not making satisfactory progress within a course through an automated Early Alert 
System. The faculty members fill out Early Alert Forms and these are automatically 
routed to notify the appropriate academic advisors to contact students to follow up on 
the issue immediately.

Technology also provides a means for the faculty to access ongoing personal and 
professional development. For example, ongoing faculty development is available both at 
the local campuses and online via the student and faculty portal. Faculty members can 
sign up for online workshops in course-specific areas, computer skills, and facilitation 
skills including critical thinking, faculty tone, and handling difficult students. Faculty 
members also have access to numerous administrative services via the portal, related to 
course management and University policies. 

The types of technological enhancements just described represent more recent advances 
among many institutions. These now supplement what have become mainstays in higher 
education’s technology arsenal, including virtual libraries, e-book collections (and other 
text materials), math and writing centers, and a variety of curriculum supplements such 
as simulations, virtual organizations, e-portfolios, and virtual science and computer labs. 
When taken in totality, technology now touches all aspect of the student experience, 
both inside and outside the classroom. 

Notable in this regard is the introduction of social media as a means of connectivity in 
an education environment that comes closer to mirroring that of the society in general. 
This phenomenon is realized at University of Phoenix through PhoenixConnectsm, which 
is a closed academic network of students, faculty, and alumni. Research shows social 
and emotional connections affect students’ perceptions of relevancy, and a lack of these 
connections can lead to disengagement.14 Through PhoenixConnectsm, students and 
faculty can discuss academic topics, meet new friends with similar interests, reach out 
to alumni, or launch a professional group. 

In a similar vein, in April 2011 the Phoenix Mobile App joined the growing list of 
academic applications available on iTunes for students on the go. Students with iPads, 
iPhones, or Androids are able to post to online forums, receive alerts when grades are 
posted and when the instructor posts new information, and participate in discussion 
forums. 

Looking Forward:  The Untapped Potential of Technology
What we have discussed, while representing significant advances for higher education, 
only scratches the surface of what current technology can offer. There is much more to 
be adapted from the current technological playlist for the higher education community. 
The most important cumulative result is that technology has the potential to increase 
student engagement by creating a more personalized learning environment that can 
incorporate adaptive features. In other words, the student learning environment can be 
designed to respond to the specific student. 
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A major source of potential here lies in ambient intelligence, that is, technology that 
knows the users, serves them, responds to them, and does so unnoticed. Ambient 
intelligence, for example, is what makes possible Amazon’s recognition of users and the 
type of products they are interested in, and thereby puts those in front of users as soon 
as they login, or perhaps even emails them with updates when new, like products arrive. 

Ambient intelligence is technology … 
	 That knows you 
	 That serves you 
	 That responds to you 
	 That you do not notice
Ethical Concerns in Ambient Intelligence 

Elizabeth Mayernick, Magnet  Lead Teacher, Duval 

County Public Schools

This type of technology can be adapted to academic 
data sets in order to determine a student’s learning 
profile and then adjust the learning environment 
to his or her needs. The more data points that 
can be gathered, the better the prescription is for 
learning. Determining the strengths and challenges 
of a student can then inform programs of skills 
enhancement, as well as appropriate levels and modes 
of content. In short, technology can make it possible 
to provide an individualized learning experience for 
every student. 

Such technology not only serves the student directly, but also connects the student to 
faculty members in new ways, so they can mediate in a more deliberate manner than is 
currently possible. Faculty members will be able to see student information on online 
dashboards populated for each class. The information can include individual student 
needs and direct faculty members to resources to assist the students.

If courses are designed to include materials that are suited to different learning styles, 
faculty members no longer must teach to the middle of the class. Learning can and will 
adapt to each individual’s needs. Faculty members will know what the students have 
learned and what they have missed. Faculty members can use this feedback in a variety 
of ways. For instance, they can assist the students in specifically identified areas of 
concern. They can also alter their approach to address areas in which a large number of 
students are showing deficiencies.

When this highly individualized and interactive learning experience is combined with 
social networking, new levels of interdisciplinary, inter-program, and inter-cohort 
dialogue and collaboration are possible. In short, adaptive technology can enhance the 
student’s experience and it is expected to increase engagement and learning outcomes; 
however, technology is just the tool. The key to the successful utilization of technology is 
that it empowers faculty members to excel.
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THE ACADEMIC SCORECARD

Summary of Results (Details in the Charts Below)

University of Phoenix offers the following to its students:

•	 Associate of Arts degree with more than twenty concentrations
•	 Bachelor programs in Business, Management, Information Technology, 

Criminal Justice Administration, Security, Education, Nursing, Health 
Administration, Human Services, Communication, English, Psychology, 
and Environmental Science

•	 Master programs in Business Administration, Management, Public 
Administration, Accountancy, Information Systems, Justice and Security, 
Education, Nursing, Health Administration, Psychology, and Counseling

•	 Doctorate programs in Business Administration, Management, Health 
Administration, Education, Industrial/Organizational Psychology, and 
Nursing

University of Phoenix is regionally accredited by The Higher Learning Commission,15 
a commission member of the North Central Association of Colleges and Schools. The 
University also has programmatic accreditations in nursing, counseling, education, and 
business.

University of Phoenix’s commitment to diversity continues to be demonstrated in the 
ethnic diversity of its student demographics. Female students make up two thirds of the 
total enrollment, which is above national averages.

The ethnic diversity of the faculty at the University is greater than national averages. 
The majority of faculty members are women, again greater than national averages.

As they have in previous years, students on End-of-Course, End-of-Program, and Alumni 
surveys rate their experiences to be positive in all surveyed areas, including quality of 
faculty, curriculum, and services.

Because University of Phoenix students did not participate this year in the National 
Survey of Student Engagement,16 2010 results are republished. For the questions that 
relate to the University’s learning goals, seniors rated their satisfaction as greater 
on nine questions and the same as one question as compared to seniors at master’s 
universities and colleges. 

On the Standardized Assessment of Information Literacy Skills (SAILS),17 University 
of Phoenix seniors are equivalent in all eight areas compared to seniors at other 
institutions. University of Phoenix seniors outperform or are equivalent to University of 
Phoenix freshmen in all eight areas. These results are consistent with past years.

The University’s electronic library continues to grow. It now has over 105,000 
periodicals and a library of books of interest. The eBook Collection contains more than 
2,000 electronic textbooks.
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On the ETS® Proficiency Profile, University of Phoenix seniors slightly underperformed 
seniors in the comparison group in Critical Thinking, Reading, Writing, Mathematics, 
Social Sciences, and Natural Sciences. However, the differences between the two groups 
were slight and of limited significance. The performance of University of Phoenix 
seniors was equivalent to other seniors in the Humanities. The results are consistent 
with previous years and show a slight improvement over 2010.

The graduation rates for the University show an increase for the associate and master 
levels and a decline for the bachelor level. Most of the bachelor-level decline can be 
attributed to a corresponding increase in zero-transfer credit students in the bachelor 
programs. The University of Phoenix Associate Modified Graduation Rate is well above 
the IPEDS graduation rate for two-year institutions.

Overview Notes and Definitions
In the following tables:

•	 “UOPX” is University of Phoenix
•	 “AY2010” is the period from September 1, 2009, through August 31, 2010
•	 “AY2011” is the period from September 1, 2010, through August 31, 2011.
•	 Many employees of University of Phoenix are also students at University 

of Phoenix. Hence, data in the following tables will include some 
University of Phoenix employees.

•	 Most of the data in the following tables is the result of voluntary 
responses and thus may not reflect the total population.

•	 The “n” or sample size may vary by question in a survey because the 
respondents were not required to answer all the questions in a survey.

•	 “Master’s universities and colleges” are institutions that offer both 
undergraduate and graduate degrees.
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Degree Major Concentration
Associate of Arts

Accounting
Communications
Criminal Justice
Elementary Education
Financial Services
Foundations of Business
General Studies
Health Care Administration
Health Care Administration - Medical Records
Hospitality, Travel and Tourism
Human Services Management
Information Technology
Information Technology/Database Development
Information Technology/Desktop Support
Information Technology/General
Information Technology/Information Technology Support
Information Technology/Network Support
Information Technology/Networking
Information Technology/Programming
Information Technology/Visual Communication
Information Technology/Web Design
Paraprofessional Education
Psychology

Associate Programs

Programs
The University offers more than 100 programs at the associate through doctoral levels. 
Students can attend class online, in a bricks-and-mortar classroom, or a combination of 
both.

The following degree programs, majors, and concentrations are offered at the University. 

Degree Programs, Majors, and Concentrations
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Degree Major Concentration
Bachelor of Arts

English
Bachelor of Science

Accounting
Biological Sciences
Business

Accounting
Administration
Communications
E-Business
Finance
Global Management
Hospitality Management
Human Resource Management
Information Systems
Integrated Supply Chain and Operations Management
Management
Marketing
Organizational Innovation
Project Management
Public Administration
Public Sector
Retail Management
Service Sector
Small Business Management & Entrepreneurship
Sustainable Enterprise Management

Communication
Communication & Technology
Culture & Communication
Marketing & Sales Communication

Baccalaureate Programs
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Degree Major Concentration
Bachelor of Science (continued)

Criminal Justice Administration
Criminal Justice Administration with concentrations in:

Human Services
Institutional Healthcare
Management

Education
Elementary Education

Environmental Science
Health Administration
Health Administration with concentrations in:

Emergency Management
Health Information Systems
Health Management
Long Term Care

Health Administration
History
Human Services
Human Services with concentrations in:

Management
Information Technology

Advanced Networking
Business System Analysis
Database Administration
Information Systems Security
Multimedia & Visual Communication
Networking & Telecommunications
Software Engineering
Web Development

Liberal Studies
Management
Management with concentrations in:

Manufacturing Sector
Nursing
Organizational Security and Management
Psychology

Baccalaureate Programs (continued)
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Degree Major Concentration
Master

Business Administration
Business Administration  with concentrations in:

Accounting
Energy Management
Global Management
Health Care Management
Human Resources Management
Marketing
Project Management
Technology Management

Health Administration
Health Administration with concentrations in:

Education
Gerontology
Informatics

Information Systems
Management
Management with concentrations in:

Human Resources Management
Public Administration

Graduate Programs
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Degree Major Concentration
Master of Arts

Education
Administration and Supervision
Adult Education & Training
Curriculum & Instruction
Curriculum & Instruction - Computer Education
Curriculum & Instruction - English and Language Arts Education
Curriculum & Instruction - English as a Second Language Education
Curriculum & Instruction - Mathematics Education
Curriculum & Instruction - Reading
Early Childhood Education
Elementary Education - Middle Level
Elementary Teacher Education
Elementary Teacher Education, Early Childhood
Secondary Teacher Education
Secondary Teacher Education, High School, Middle Level
Special Education
Teacher Education - Middle Level Generalist
Teacher Education - Middle Level Mathematics
Teacher Education - Middle Level Science
Teacher Education - Secondary Mathematics
Teacher Education - Secondary Science
Teacher Leadership

Graduate Programs (continued)
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Degree Major Concentration
Doctor Business Administration

Education
Educational Leadership
Educational Leadership/Curriculum and Instruction
Educational Leadership/Educational Technology

Health Administration
Management

Organizational Leadership
Organizational Leadership/ IS&T

Doctor of Philosophy
Higher Education Administration
Industrial/Organizational Psychology
Nursing

Educational Specialist

Doctoral Programs

Degree Major Concentration
Master of Science

Accountancy
Administration of Justice & Security
Counseling

Clinical Mental Health Counseling
Community Counseling
Marriage and Family Counseling
Marriage, Family, and Child Therapy
School Counseling

Nursing
Nursing  with concentrations in:

Family Nurse Practitioner
Health Care Education
Informatics
Master of Health Administration (Dual Major)
Master of Business Administration/Health Care Management (Dual Major)

Psychology

Graduate Programs (continued)
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Program Accrediting Body Acronym Address

www.aacn.nche.edu

One Dupont Circle NW

Suite 530
Washington, DC 20036
www.cacrep.org

1001 North Fairfax Street
 Suite 510
Alexandria, VA 22314
www.acbsp.org

11520 West 119th Street
Overland Park, KS 66213
www.teac.org
Teacher Education Accreditation Council

One Dupont Circle NW
Suite 320
Washington, DC 20036

Education
Teacher Education 
Accreditation Council

TEAC

Council for Accreditation of Counseling
 and Related Educational Programs

American Association of 
Colleges of Nursing

Accreditation Council for Business 
Schools and Programs

Counseling
Council for Accreditation of 
Counseling and Related 
Educational Programs

CACREP

Nursing
Commission on Collegiate 
Nursing Education

CCNE

Business
Accreditation Council for 
Business Schools and Programs

ACBSP

Accreditation
University of Phoenix operates campuses and learning centers in 40 states, the 
District of Columbia, and Puerto Rico. The University must conform to all state 
and national laws regarding licensed businesses and the regulations of various 
departments of education as well as higher education regulatory authorities in each 
jurisdiction in which the University operates.

University of Phoenix is regionally accredited by The Higher Learning Commission, 
a commission member of the North Central Association of Colleges and Schools. 
The University has held this accreditation since 1978. In addition to regional 
accreditation, the University holds four programmatic accreditations.

Programmatic Accreditation
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DEMOGRAPHICS

Students
Throughout its history, the University has sought to provide access to higher education 
for all those who are willing to put in the effort to earn a degree. The University’s 
student body remains diverse; as an example, 18 percent are African American, 
compared to a national average of 12 percent. Undergraduate enrollment and graduate 
enrollment at University of Phoenix are both more ethnically diverse than national 
averages.

In the following tables, the source for National 2009 Fall Enrollment is Table 1, Institute 
of Education Services, NCES, Enrollment in Postsecondary Institutions, Fall 2009; 
Graduation Rates, 2003 & 2006 Cohort:

UOPX 2009 
IPEDS Fall 

Enrollment

UOPX 2010 
IPEDS Fall 

Enrollment

National 
2009 Fall 

Enrollment
White/White non-Hispanic 35.8 36.3 56.4
Black or African American/Black non-Hispanic 18.3 18.4 12.9
Hispanic or Latino/Hispanic 7.5 8.2 11.2
Asian 2.1 1.4 5.8
Native Hawaiian or other Pacific Islander 0.8
American Indian/Alaskan native 0.8 0.8 0.9
Non-Resident Alien 2.5 2.2 3.3
Two or More Races 0.6 0.4
Race/Ethnicity Unknown 33 31.3 9

UOPX 2009 
IPEDS Fall 

Enrollment

UOPX 2010 
IPEDS Fall 

Enrollment

National 
2009 Fall 

Enrollment
White/White non-Hispanic 36 36.8 56.6
Black or African American/Black non-Hispanic 17.5 17.7 13.3
Hispanic or Latino/Hispanic 7.5 8.4 12.1
Asian 1.8 1.1 5.8
Native Hawaiian or other Pacific Islander 0.7
American Indian/Alaskan native 0.9 0.8 1
Non-Resident Alien 2 1.9 2.1
Two or More Races 0.7 0.5
Race/Ethnicity Unknown 34.3 31.9 8.6

Diversity: All students

Diversity: Undergraduate Students
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Female students make up two thirds of the total enrollment, which is above national 
averages. Female enrollments at both the undergraduate level and the graduate level are 
also greater than national averages.

UOPX 2009 
IPEDS Fall 
Enrollment

UOPX 2010 
IPEDS Fall 
Enrollment

National 
2009 Fall 
Enrollment

White/White non-Hispanic 34.9 34.1 55.5
Black or African American/Black non-Hispanic 21.6 22 10.4
Hispanic or Latino/Hispanic 7.3 7.4 5.6
Asian 3.3 2.4 5.9
Native Hawaiian or other Pacific Islander 0.7
American Indian/Alaskan native 0.7 0.7 0.6
Non-Resident Alien 4.8 3.8 10.7
Two or More Races 0.3 0.2
Race/Ethnicity Unknown 27.4 28.6 11.3

UOPX 2009 IPEDS Fall 
Enrollment

UOPX 2010 IPEDS Fall 
Enrollment

National 2009 Fall 
Enrollment

Female 68.5 68.9 57
Male 31.5 31.1 43

UOPX 2009 IPEDS Fall 
Enrollment

UOPX 2010 IPEDS Fall 
Enrollment

National 2009 Fall 
Enrollment

Female 68.4 69 59
Male 31.6 31 41

UOPX 2009 IPEDS Fall 
Enrollment

UOPX 2010 IPEDS Fall 
Enrollment

National 2009 Fall 
Enrollment

Female 68.5 68.9 56.7
Male 31.5 31.1 43.3

Diversity: Graduate Students

Gender: All Students

Gender: Undergraduate Students

Gender: Graduate Students
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UOPX 2009 IPEDS HR UOPX 2010 IPEDS HR National Fall 2009

Female 53.5 57 47.1
Male 46.5 43 52.9

Faculty
The ethnic diversity of the faculty at the University is greater than national averages. 
Both the percentage of Black and Hispanic faculty had notable increases from 2010 to 
2011.

The majority of faculty members are women, which is also greater than national 
averages. The percentage of female faculty increased from 2010 to 2011.

In the following tables, the source for National Fall 2009 is the Digest of Education 
Statistics, Table 256, Employees in degree granting institutions…Fall 2009.

UOPX 2009 
IPEDS HR

UOPX 2010 
IPEDS HR

National 
Fall 2009

White/White non-Hispanic 69.1 66.6 74.9
Black or African American/Black non-Hispanic 17.9 18.6 6.6
Hispanic or Latino/Hispanic 4.8 5.6 4
Asian 3.4 3.5 6
Native Hawaiian or other Pacific Islander 0.1
American Indian/Alaskan native 0.6 0.6 0.5
Non-Resident Alien 1.5 0.1 2.8
Two or More Races 0 0
Race/Ethnicity Unknown 2.7 4.9 5.2

Diversity: Faculty

Gender: Faculty



23

End-of-Program Survey
Scale 1-5*

UOPX AY2010
n  = 24,753

UOPX Sept – Nov, 2011**
n  = 5,394

Enrollment Counseling 4.29 4.26
Academic Advising 4.2 4.18
Financial Aid Services 3.86 3.87
Quality of Instruction 4.37 4.32
Availability of Faculty 3.75 3.79

End-of-Course Survey
Scale 0-10 (previously 1-5)*

UOPX AY2011
n =1,425,835

Recommend UOPX 8.53
Recommend Instructor 8.4
Helpful Instructor Feedback 8.4
Satisfied with Curriculum 8.29
Satisfied with Learning Experience 8.33
Academic Advisor 8.53
Financial Advisor 8.2

Student Satisfaction
The University regularly conducts student satisfaction surveys and uses the results to 
implement change within the organization.

Student End-of-Course Survey
An internal Student End-of-Course Survey (SEOCS) is administered at the end of every 
course at University of Phoenix. On these surveys, students rate faculty, curriculum, and 
services positively. The scale was changed this year to allow a Net Promoter Score to be 
calculated in the future.

End-of-Program Survey
On an internal End-of-Program Survey (EOP), students rate all services and categories 
positively.

Student End-of-Course Surveys (SEOCS)

* 0 = strongly disagree, 10 = strongly agree

End-of-Program Survey (EOPS)

* 0 = strongly disagree, 5 = strongly agree

** Due to system issues, data collection was limited to a three-month period. The prior year data covered a 
twelve-month period.
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Alumni Survey
Scale 1-5*

UOPX AY2010 
n =5,978

Would recommend UOPX 4.05
Education met expectations 4.02
UOPX offers high quality education 4.1
UOPX education is useful in career 3.99
UOPX degree comparable to similar degrees from other institutions 3.75

Alumni Survey
On an internal Alumni Survey, alumni rate their University of Phoenix education 
positively. Because the Alumni Survey is conducted every other year, 2010 results are 
being republished.

National Survey of Student Engagement 
University of Phoenix also uses an external measure of student satisfaction, the National 
Survey of Student Engagement (NSSE).

Because University of Phoenix students did not participate this year in the National 
Survey of Student Engagement,18 2010 results are being republished. For the questions 
that relate to the University’s learning goals, seniors rated their satisfaction as greater 
on nine questions and the same on one question as compared to seniors at master’s 
universities and colleges. 

Alumni Survey

* 0 = strongly disagree, 5 = strongly agree

National Survey of Student Engagement (NSSE)

NSEE Questions that relate to UOPX Learning Goals  
Percentage of seniors who felt their college/university 

contributed "quite a bit" or "very much" to their 
knowledge, skills, and personal development in the 

following areas:

UOPX 
AY2009 
n = 781

Master's 
Universities 
and Colleges

Acquiring a broad general education 84% 84%
Acquiring job or work-related knowledge and skills 82% 77%
Developing a personal code of values and ethics 67% 63%
Thinking critically and analytically 91% 88%
Analyzing quantitative problems 82% 75%
Solving complex real-world problems 75% 64%
Writing clearly and effectively 90% 79%
Speaking clearly and effectively 87% 75%
Using computing and information technology 84% 80%
Working effectively with others 89% 81%



25

Information Literacy
The skills required to become successful in the digital workplace are woven 
throughout the five Learning Goals required for all University of Phoenix courses and 
programs: professional competence and values, critical thinking and problem solving, 
communication, information utilization, and collaboration.

The University has taken steps to ensure that the way students learn emulates the 
way professionals work. The University Library houses more than 105,000 electronic 
periodicals as well as e-books of interest. The eBook Collection is made up of 2,000 
electronic books. Students and faculty have access to the entire eBook Collection 
throughout their degree programs. The University Library and eBook Collection are 
available to users seven days a week from anywhere there is an Internet connection.

In addition to math and writing tutorials, the University also utilizes simulations, 
virtual laboratories and virtual organizations in courses. Virtual organizations are 
realistic web-based businesses, schools, health care and government organizations that 
promote authentic assessment by immersing students into problem-based learning 
environments. Nursing utilizes simulation laboratory mannequins.

Standardized Assessment of Information Literacy Skills 
In an effort to benchmark student achievement in information literacy as compared to 
students from other institutions, the University uses the Standardized Assessment of 
Information Literacy Skills (SAILS), originally developed by Kent State University.15

 The SAILS is based on the following Association of College and Research Libraries 
(ACRL)19 Information Literacy Competency Standards for Higher Education:

•	 Standard I: The information literate student determines the nature and 
extent of the information needed.

•	 Standard II: The information literate student accesses needed information 
effectively and efficiently.

•	 Standard III: The information literate student evaluates information and 
its sources critically and incorporates selected information into his or her 
knowledge base and value system.

•	 Standard V:* The information literate student understands many of the 
economic, legal, and social issues surrounding the use of information and 
accesses and uses information ethically and legally. 

*ACRL Standard IV is not used in the SAILS assessment.

On the SAILS, University of Phoenix freshmen are equivalent in seven of the eight 
areas compared to freshmen at master’s universities and colleges. In the eighth area, 
Evaluating Sources, University of Phoenix freshmen outperform other freshmen at 
master’s universities and colleges.

University of Phoenix seniors are equivalent in all eight areas compared to seniors at 
master’s universities and colleges. University of Phoenix seniors outperform University 
of Phoenix freshmen in five of the eight areas. Seniors and freshmen performed 
equivalently in the other three areas.
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In the following tables:

•	 Outperformed = UOPX students had a significantly higher mean score on 
the skill set compared to their peers in the comparison group.

•	 Equivalent = the mean scores for UOPX students and their peers in the 
comparison group were statistically equivalent.

•	 Underperformed = UOPX students had a significantly lower mean score 
than their peers in the comparison group.

•	 Alpha (a) =.05 for all significance tests.
•	 Std. Error = Standard Error
•	 Scores range from 0 to 1,000

Skill Set
UOPX Performance

vs.
Comparison Group

Mean Std. Error Mean Std. Error

Developing Research Strategy 492 12 485 2 Equivalent
Selecting Finding Tools 520 16 505 3 Equivalent
Searching 477 14 465 3 Equivalent
Using Finding Tools Features 530 18 528 4 Equivalent
Retrieving Sources 551 19 535 4 Equivalent
Evaluating Sources 503 14 470 3 Outperformed
Documenting Sources 416 19 438 4 Equivalent
Understanding Economic, 
Legal, Social Issues

445 14 432 3 Equivalent

UOPX AY2011

n =327

Master’s 
Universities & 

Colleges
n = 9,965

Skill Set
UOPX Performance 

vs 
Comparison Group

Mean Std. Error Mean Std. Error
Developing Research Strategy 536 19 525 5 Equivalent
Selecting Finding Tools 548 25 547 6 Equivalent
Searching 525 24 510 5 Equivalent
Using Finding Tools Features 572 28 572 6 Equivalent
Retrieving Sources 601 27 597 7 Equivalent
Evaluating Sources 535 23 512 5 Equivalent
Documenting Sources 478 28 503 6 Equivalent
Understanding Economic, 
Legal, Social Issues

496 24 480 5 Equivalent

UOPX  AY2011

n =124

Master’s
Universities & 

Colleges
n = 2,881

SAILS: Freshmen

SAILS: Seniors
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Academic Proficiency and Progress
In the last twenty years, the accreditation community has placed significantly greater 
emphasis on the importance of assessing student learning.

ETS® Proficiency Profile 
As a part of its assessment process, University of Phoenix uses the ETS® Proficiency 
Profile developed by the Educational Testing Service (ETS).20 The tool measures college-
level skills in critical thinking, reading, writing, mathematics, humanities, social 
sciences, and natural sciences for undergraduate students. The assessment provides 
comparative data for more than 375,000 students nationwide at 380 institutions. 

For academic year 2011:

Skill Set
UOPX Seniors 

vs. 
UOPX Freshmen

Mean Std. Error Mean Std. Error
Developing Research Strategy 492 12 536 19 Outperformed
Selecting Finding Tools 520 16 548 25 Equivalent
Searching 477 14 525 24 Outperformed
Using Finding Tools Features 530 18 572 28 Equivalent
Retrieving Sources 551 19 601 27 Outperformed
Evaluating Sources 503 14 535 23 Equivalent
Documenting Sources 416 19 478 28 Outperformed
Understanding Economic, 
Legal, Social Issues

445 14 496 24 Outperformed

UOPX Freshmen
n =327

UOPX Seniors
n =124

SAILS: Seniors vs. Freshmen

Compared to freshmen at master’s universities and colleges:

•	 University of Phoenix freshmen performed equivalently in Humanities 
and Social Sciences.

•	 University of Phoenix freshmen slightly underperformed in Critical 
Thinking, Reading, Writing, and Natural Sciences. However, the 
differences between the two groups were slight and of limited practical 
significance.

•	 University of Phoenix freshmen moderately underperformed in 
Mathematics.

Compared to seniors at master’s universities and colleges:

•	 University of Phoenix seniors slightly underperformed in Critical 
Thinking, Reading, Writing, Mathematics, Social Sciences, and Natural 
Sciences. However, the differences between the two groups were slight 
and of limited practical significance.

•	 University of Phoenix seniors performed equivalently in Humanities.
University seniors slightly outperformed University freshmen in all skill sets.
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In the following tables:

•	 Strongly Outperformed = UOPX had a significantly higher mean score 
than the comparison group with an absolute effect size of greater than 

Skill Set
UOPX Performance

vs.
Comparison Group

Mean Std. Dev. Mean Std. Dev.
Critical Thinking 108.1 5.1 109.6 5.9 Slightly Underperformed
Reading 113.7 6.9 115.3 6.9 Slightly Underperformed
Writing 110.7 4.8 112.5 5 Slightly Underperformed
Mathematics 108.1 4.4 111.2 5.9 Moderately Underperformed
Humanities 112.5 5.8 112.7 6.2 Equivalent
Social Sciences 110.8 5.7 111.5 5.8 Equivalent
Natural Sciences 111.7 5.7 113.3 5.7 Slightly Underperformed

UOPX AY2011

n = 2,661

Master's Universities 
and Colleges

n = 6,985 (weighted)

ETS: Freshmen

0.80.
•	 Moderately Outperformed = UOPX had a significantly higher mean score 

than the comparison group with an absolute effect size of 0.51-0.80.
•	 Slightly Outperformed = UOPX had a significantly higher mean score than 

the comparison group with an absolute effect size of 0.20-0.50.
•	 Equivalent = there was a non-significant difference between UOPX and the 

comparison group mean scores or a significant difference with an absolute 
effect size of less than 0.20.

•	 Slightly Underperformed = UOPX had a significantly lower mean score than 
the comparison group with an absolute effect size of 0.20-0.50.

•	 Moderately Underperformed = UOPX had a significantly lower mean score 
than the comparison group  with an absolute effect size of 0.51-0.80

•	 Strongly Underperformed = UOPX had a significantly lower mean score 
than the comparison group with an absolute effect size of greater than 0.80.

•	 Std. Dev. = Standard Deviation.
•	 Alpha(a) = .05 for all significance tests.
•	 Scores range from 100 to 130.
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Skill Set
UOPX Seniors vs. UOPX 

Freshmen

Critical Thinking Slightly Outperformed
Reading Slightly Outperformed
Writing Slightly Outperformed
Mathematics Slightly Outperformed
Humanities Slightly Outperformed
Social Sciences Slightly Outperformed
Natural Sciences Slightly Outperformed

108.1
112.5
110.8
111.7

112.9
110.4
114.2
112.4
113.5

108.1
113.7

109.6
116

110.7

UOPX Freshmen
UOPX Seniors

(weighted)

ETS: Seniors vs. Freshmen

Skill Set
UOPX Performance

vs.
Comparison Group

Mean Std. Dev. Mean Std. Dev.
Critical Thinking 109.6 5.9 112.5 6.5 Slightly Underperformed
Reading 116 7.2 118.6 6.8 Slightly Underperformed
Writing 112.9 5.2 114.5 4.9 Slightly Underperformed
Mathematics 110.4 5.5 113.3 6.2 Slightly Underperformed
Humanities 114.2 6.3 115.4 6.5 Equivalent
Social Sciences 112.4 6.2 114.2 6.2 Slightly Underperformed
Natural Sciences 113.5 6 115.8 5.8 Slightly Underperformed

UOPX AY2011

n =2,984 (weighted)

Master's Universities 
and Colleges

n =34,387 (weighted)

ETS: Seniors
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Program Level 3 year 4 year 6 year 8 year

Revised Associate 2005 cohort* 32% 35%

Associate 2006 cohort 34% 36%
Bachelor 2002 cohort 34% 36%
Bachelor 2003 cohort 31% 33%
Graduate 2005 cohort** 55% 63%
Master 2006 cohort 60% 64%
Doctorate 2003 cohort 36%

University of Phoenix Modified Graduation Rate Table

*In the 2010 Academic Annual Report, the Associate 2005 cohort completion rate was reported as 23% for 
3 Years and 24% for >3 Years. Historically, University of Phoenix had a limited number of Associate students. 
A large number of Associate students transferred from Western International University (WIU) to the 
University of Phoenix in 2006. The Associate 2005 cohort reported in the 2010 Academic Annual Report 
included all students that potentially could transfer to University of Phoenix from WIU and those students 
that enrolled directly as Associate students into University of Phoenix. The Revised Associate 2005 cohort 
that is being reported is the Associate students that actually did transfer to University of Phoenix from WIU 
and those students that enrolled directly as Associate students into University of Phoenix.

**In the 2010 Academic Report, the Graduate 2005 cohort included both Master and Doctorate students. 
This year, “Graduate” is being broken into separate “Master” and “Doctorate” cohorts.

Graduation Rates
The graduation rate is specified by the National Center for Education Statistics (NCES)21 
to be calculated for “.students entering the institution as full-time, first-time, degree/
certificate-seeking undergraduate students in a particular year (cohort).”

In this report, the “modified graduation rate” is for all enrolled students, including 
first-time attendees as well as those with prior college experience. This “modified” rate 
is defined as the percentage of students who completed at least three University of 
Phoenix credits and went on to be degree-complete. Data are for the number of students 
entering the University as degree-seeking students in a particular cohort year. Thus, the 
calculation in this report is a modification and includes more types of students than does 
the NCES graduation rate calculation.

The modified graduation rates for the University show an increase for the associate and 
master levels and a decline for the bachelor level. Most of the bachelor-level decline can 
be attributed to an increase in zero-transfer credit students. There is a high correlation 
between more transfer credits and higher graduation rates for non-traditional students. 
University of Phoenix associate modified graduation rate is well above the IPEDS 
graduation rates for two-year institutions.
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University Orientation and First Year Sequence
In November 2010, a free University Orientation workshop was implemented to ensure 
that students with limited prior college experience better understand the time and 
effort required to be successful in University programs prior to actually enrolling in the 
University. University Orientation is three weeks long and delivered in the same format 
as in existing classes. Students must complete assignments in a manner similar in nature 
to the way they will be working in class. Of those who start Orientation, approximately 
80 percent enroll in University of Phoenix, while approximately 20 percent opt out 
before incurring any debt. Students who opt out are generally leaving with a positive 
experience. For students who went through Orientation and then enrolled in the 
University, first-course completion rates were higher than prior-year levels.

Some of this retention success can be attributed to the First-Year Sequence, which was 
introduced in February 2010. The First-Year Sequence was designed using a laddering 
approach to the sequence of courses. Concepts and skills introduced in early classes are 
reinforced with work in later classes.

Student Salary Increases While Enrolled
Many University of Phoenix students are employed full time while enrolled. Internal 
research has shown that University of Phoenix students’ average annual salaries for 
the time they are enrolled in their program of study increase at higher rates than the 
national average salary increase for the same time period. 

In addition to the figures the University has compiled, in June 2011 the Center for 
College Affordability and Productivity noted the following on their website, “…the 
typical University of Phoenix alumni earns slightly more than those from the traditional 
competitive schools at every level of experience throughout their career.”22

In the following table, the source is Table 7, Institute of Educational Services, NCES, 
Enrollment in Postsecondary Institutions, Fall 2009; Graduation Rates, 2003 & 2006 
Cohorts…

Program Level 3 year 4 year 6 year 8 year
Associate 2006 cohort 22%
Bachelor 2003 cohort 56%
Master n/a n/a
Doctorate n/a

Public Title IV Institutions IPEDS Graduation Rates
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ENDNOTES





IRN Official Name (Last, First M) Degree Institution Earned Year Earned
ONLINE AGENA, DIANE K DOCTORATE PURDUE UNIVERSITY 2006
ONLINE ALBERT, JULINE  DOCTORATE UNIVERSITY OF NEBRASKA ‐ LINCOLN 2004
ONLINE ANDREASSEN, AMY  MASTER TRINITY UNIVERSITY 1997
ONLINE ANDRINGA, HELEN  MASTER WESTERN ILLINOIS UNIVERSITY 2004
ONLINE ASK, ANGELA  MASTER UNIVERSITY OF NEBRASKA MEDICAL CENTER 2005
ONLINE AULD, PHILLIP J MASTER NORTHERN ILLINOIS UNIVERSITY 1987
ONLINE BARRETT, RICHARD Q MASTER UNIVERSITY OF IOWA 1984
ONLINE BETTERTON, JOEL S MASTER IOWA STATE UNIVERSITY 1998
ONLINE BINDER, DAVID A MASTER UNIVERSITY OF MICHIGAN 1975
ONLINE BISHOP, JOLAN K MASTER YOUNGSTOWN STATE UNIVERSITY 2004
ONLINE BOUSEMAN, TIMOTHY  MASTER TRIDENT UNIVERSITY INTERNATIONAL 2006
ONLINE BRAL, CONNA S DOCTORATE UNIVERSITY OF NEBRASKA ‐ LINCOLN 2007
ONLINE BRATTVET, JAMES R MASTER KENNESAW STATE UNIVERSITY 2003
ONLINE BRICKER, DAWN M MASTER CLARKSON COLLEGE 2010
ONLINE BRUGGEMANN, CHAD C MASTER DRAKE UNIVERSITY 2001
ONLINE BURFORD, DAWN  DOCTORATE SOUTHERN ILLINOIS UNIVERSITY CARBONDALE 2002
ONLINE CHRISTENSEN, JAY  MASTER DES MOINES UNIVERSITY ‐ OSTEOPATHIC MEDICAL CENTER 2001
ONLINE DILLON, JOSEPH M MASTER UNIVERSITY OF PHOENIX 2006
ONLINE DUHN, SAMANTHA  MASTER NORTHCENTRAL UNIVERSITY 2009
ONLINE FITZ‐RANDOLPH, MEGGE H MASTER WARREN WILSON COLLEGE 1993
ONLINE FLANAGAN, SHAWN W DOCTORATE UNIVERSITY OF IOWA 1996
ONLINE FLEMING, JOLEEN M MASTER UNIVERSITY OF PHOENIX 2001
ONLINE FRAD, CORINNE L MASTER UPPER IOWA UNIVERSITY 2005
ONLINE FULLER, SHERI L MASTER UNIVERSITY OF PHOENIX 2004
ONLINE GAUTHIER, MIRANDA C MASTER ILLINOIS INSTITUTE OF TECHNOLOGY 2009
ONLINE GILLESPIE, JENNA M MASTER AZUSA PACIFIC UNIVERSITY 2006
ONLINE GOINGS, CHAD A MASTER UNIVERSITY OF ARKANSAS AT FAYETTEVILLE 2002



IRN Official Name (Last, First M) Degree Institution Earned Year Earned
ONLINE GRIMM, JESSICA M MASTER GRACELAND UNIVERSITY 2005
ONLINE GRONEWOLD, INEZ L MASTER UNIVERSITY OF PHOENIX 2002
ONLINE GRUBERT, ERICH P MASTER CARDINAL STRITCH UNIVERSITY 2003
ONLINE HALL, KRISTYN L MASTER UNIVERSITY OF PHOENIX 2004
ONLINE HARRIS, J. PHILLIP P DOCTORATE UNIVERSITY OF PHOENIX 2011
ONLINE HAWF, CASSIDY J MASTER CAPELLA UNIVERSITY 2006
ONLINE HELBLING, CHRISTINE M MASTER CREIGHTON UNIVERSITY 1992
ONLINE HILTON, TOD M DOCTORATE UNIVERSITY OF PHOENIX 2010
ONLINE HOEY, REBECCA  DOCTORATE UNIVERSITY OF SOUTH DAKOTA 2012
ONLINE HOGAN, MARIAN  MASTER UNIVERSITY OF IOWA 1997
ONLINE HUTCHINSON, TERESA L MASTER SAINT AMBROSE UNIVERSITY 2003
ONLINE JANNUSCH, DANIELLE  DOCTORATE UNIVERSITY OF IOWA 2008
ONLINE JOHNSON, ERIC D MASTER UNIVERSITY OF IOWA 2008
ONLINE JULIUS, ALISSA  MASTER GRAND CANYON UNIVERSITY 2008
ONLINE KAPLER, MARY F MASTER UNIVERSITY OF PHOENIX 2005
ONLINE KEDLEY‐BERGMANN, KATE E MASTER NORTHERN ARIZONA UNIVERSITY 2005
ONLINE KEELING, JOYCE  MASTER UNIVERSITY OF NORTHERN IOWA 1996
ONLINE KERSEY, VICTOR  DOCTORATE CAPELLA UNIVERSITY 2006
ONLINE KLINGFUS, MICHELLE  MASTER UNIVERSITY OF NORTHERN IOWA 2007
ONLINE KLUBEK, JILL  MASTER SOUTHERN ILLINOIS UNIVERSITY CARBONDALE 1998,
ONLINE KRAMER, PAUL A MASTER MARQUETTE UNIVERSITY 2000
ONLINE LASHIER, ANNE K MASTER MINNESOTA STATE UNIVERSITY, MANKATO 1985
ONLINE LIESSMANN, CHRISTINA L DOCTORATE UNIVERSITY OF NEVADA ‐ RENO 2007
ONLINE LIPPERT, AMY L MASTER UNIVERSITY OF PHOENIX 2007
ONLINE LIVELY, MICHELE G MASTER UNIVERSITY OF PHOENIX 1997
ONLINE MAHRT, AMBER  MASTER CLARKSON COLLEGE 2010
ONLINE MANLEY, SHARI  MASTER UNIVERSITY OF NORTHERN IOWA 2000
ONLINE MANOCK, JULIANNE K MASTER DRAKE UNIVERSITY 1999
ONLINE MC LEAN, TAMI L MASTER UNIVERSITY OF NORTHERN IOWA 2002
ONLINE MC NEIL, LEESA A MASTER UNIVERSITY OF DENVER 1981



IRN Official Name (Last, First M) Degree Institution Earned Year Earned
ONLINE MCQUERRY, TIFFANY R MASTER UNIVERSITY OF NORTHERN IOWA 2005
ONLINE MOSS, ALLISHA L MASTER IOWA STATE UNIVERSITY 2005
ONLINE MYERS, CHRISTOPHER  DOCTORATE UNIVERSITY OF IOWA 2009
ONLINE NESS, CARL  MASTER NORWICH UNIVERSITY 2006
ONLINE NOSBISCH, MATTHEW M MASTER UNIVERSITY OF PHOENIX 2005
ONLINE NOVAK, DAWN  MASTER UPPER IOWA UNIVERSITY 2009
ONLINE OVERTURF, HOLLY A MASTER UNIVERSITY OF NORTHERN IOWA 2009
ONLINE OWEN, MARTHA L MASTER DES MOINES UNIVERSITY ‐ OSTEOPATHIC MEDICAL CENTER 1996
ONLINE PATEL, HINA S DOCTORATE IOWA STATE UNIVERSITY 2004
ONLINE RAHMAN, AKM  MASTER UNIVERSITY OF IOWA 2010
ONLINE RAWSON, RITA L MASTER UNIVERSITY OF IOWA 1998
ONLINE RICHIE, AMY  MASTER CAPELLA UNIVERSITY 2007
ONLINE ROMAGNOLI, STEPHANIE  MASTER UNIVERSITY OF PHOENIX 2004
ONLINE SANCHEZ PORTILLO, IVAN  MASTER SOUTHERN ILLINOIS UNIVERSITY CARBONDALE 2009
ONLINE SCHULTE, MONA R MASTER MORNINGSIDE COLLEGE 1994
ONLINE SHIPLEY, LUCINDA  MASTER A. T. STILL UNIVERSITY OF HEALTH SCIENCES 2009
ONLINE SHREVE, SARA  MASTER UNIVERSITY OF IOWA 2010
ONLINE SIPMA, TRACY J MASTER UPPER IOWA UNIVERSITY 2010
ONLINE SITZMANN, BETH I MASTER UNIVERSITY OF PHOENIX 2000
ONLINE SMITH, STEVEN L MASTER UNIVERSITY OF PHOENIX 2003,
ONLINE SOEDT, RYAN D MASTER SAINT AMBROSE UNIVERSITY 2004
ONLINE STINES, ELIJAH J DOCTORATE IOWA STATE UNIVERSITY 2012
ONLINE STOCK, KAREN  MASTER IOWA STATE UNIVERSITY 1995
ONLINE STROBEL, CATHERINE  MASTER OHIO UNIVERSITY 2000
ONLINE THEISEN, LOIS  MASTER LOYOLA UNIVERSITY CHICAGO 1972
ONLINE THOMAS, GREGORY A DOCTORATE IOWA STATE UNIVERSITY 2000
ONLINE THRONE, ROBIN L DOCTORATE UNION INSTITUTE AND UNIVERSITY 2000
ONLINE TRAN, SANH  MASTER UNIVERSITY OF IOWA 2006
ONLINE TRIPP, CAROL M MASTER AZUSA PACIFIC UNIVERSITY 1990
ONLINE UHL, STEVEN L MASTER UNIVERSITY OF SOUTH DAKOTA 1979



IRN Official Name (Last, First M) Degree Institution Earned Year Earned
ONLINE VAN WILLIGEN, CARLIE D MASTER SAINT AMBROSE UNIVERSITY 1992
ONLINE WEETS, TERA L MASTER UNIVERSITY OF PHOENIX 2007
ONLINE WELLS, ROD C MASTER UNIVERSITY OF IOWA 1997
ONLINE WILL, FREDERIC  DOCTORATE YALE UNIVERSITY 1954
ONLINE WISE, REBECCA A MASTER DRAKE UNIVERSITY 2010
ONLINE WISER, ZACHARY  MASTER IOWA STATE UNIVERSITY 2005
ONLINE WOJTECKI, JOHN A MASTER DRAKE UNIVERSITY 1999
ONLINE YOUNGS, DARIN  MASTER NORTH PARK UNIVERSITY 1996
ONLINE ZIMMERMAN, EVEMARIE  MASTER DRAKE UNIVERSITY 1995
ONLINE ZUBROD, CATHERINE M MASTER UNIVERSITY OF NORTHERN IOWA 2007
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